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On October 1, 2002, the Company effected a 1-for-8 reverse split of its common stock. All share related information in
this annual report on Form 10-K gives effect to that reverse stock split.
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Safe Harbor for Forward-Looking Statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 —This Annual
Report on Form 10-K contains various forward-looking statements and information that are based on management’s beliefs, as well as
assumptions made by, and information currently available to management, including statements regarding future economic
performance and financial condition, liquidity and capital resources, acceptance of the Company’s products by the market and
management’s plans and objectives. The Company has tried to identify such forward looking statements by use of words such as
“expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “believes,” “will,” “should,” and similar expressions, but these words are not the
exclusive means of identifying such statements. The forward looking statements included in this Annual Report are subject to various
risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual results to vary materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the
forward looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include the extent to which the Company’s new products and
services can be successfully developed and marketed, the integration and other risks associated with recent and future acquisitions, the
willingness of independent insurance agencies to outsource their computer and other processing needs to third parties, the Company’s
ability to continue to develop new products to effectively address market needs in an industry characterized by rapid technological
change, the Company’s dependence on the insurance industry (and in particular independent agents), the highly competitive and
rapidly changing automation systems market, the Company’s ability to effectively protect its applications software and other
proprietary information, the Company’s ability to attract and retain quality management, and software, technical sales and other
personnel, the potential negative impact on the Company’s outsourcing business in India from adverse publicity and possible
governmental regulation, the risks of disruption of the Company’s Internet connections or internal service problems, the possibly
adverse effects of a substantial increase in volume of traffic on the Company’s website, mainframe and other servers, possible security
breaches on the Company’s website and the possible effects of insurance regulation on the Company’s business. Certain of these, as
well as other, risks, uncertainties and other factors, are described in more detail in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, included under
“Item 1. Business—Risk Factors.” Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation
to update any such factors or to publicly announce the results of , or changes to, any of, or change, the forward-looking statements
contained herein to reflect future events or developments or changed circumstances or for any other reason.
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PART I
Item 1.

BUSINESS

Ebix, Inc. (the “Company”), which changed its name from ebix.com, Inc. on December 30, 2003, was founded in 1976 as Delphi
Systems, Inc., a California corporation. In this report, Ebix, Inc. is referred to as the “Company,” while Ebix.com (Ebix.com is a
registered trademark of Ebix, Inc.) refers to the Company’s website, including the Company’s internet browser-based products
described below.
The Company is an international provider of software and Internet-based solutions for the insurance industry. International
revenue accounted for 33%, 31% and 25% of total revenue in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Historically and during 2004, the
Company’s revenue has been derived primarily from professional and support services (96% of revenue in 2004) and from the
licensing and sale of software comprised of proprietary software and third-party software (4% of revenue in 2004). Professional
services and support include software development projects, transaction based fees, fees for software license maintenance, initial
registration and ongoing monthly subscription fees from the EbixASP product and business process outsourcing revenue. Also
included in professional services and support are fees for consulting, implementation, training, and project management provided to
the Company’s customers with installed systems and those in the process of installing systems.
On February 23, 2004 the Company acquired LifeLink Corporation (“LifeLink”) located in Park City, Utah. LifeLink markets a
number of software products that provide sales illustrations and quote comparison services to insurance carriers and wholesalers
operating in the life insurance and long-term care markets. The Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of LifeLink from its
shareholders in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $10,354,000, payable in cash and stock. See note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K. The acquisition of LifeLink has provided the Company with an entrée to the life
insurance segment of the insurance market from both the agent/broker and carrier perspective.
On July 1, 2004, Ebix Australia Pty Ltd (VIC), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired certain operating
assets of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd (“Heart”). Heart was a broker systems vendor in Australia that provided end-to-end ASP
broker systems to more than 650 brokers in Australia. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired the operating assets of
Heart in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $7,116,000 payable in cash, letters of credit and stock. See note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. The acquisition of Heart provided us with a significant share of the smaller
broker market in Australia, substantially raising our overall insurance broker market share in Australia. Prior to the acquisition of certain
assets of Heart the Company had a large share of the mid-sized broker market in Australia.
Information on the Company’s revenues, net income and fixed assets in different geographic areas is furnished in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Industry overview —The insurance industry has undergone significant consolidation over the past several years driven by the
need for, and benefits from, economies of scale and scope in providing insurance in a competitive environment. Consolidation has
involved both insurance brokers, who are the Company’s primary customers, and insurance carriers and is directly impacting the
manner in which insurance products are distributed. Management believes the insurance industry will continue to experience
significant changes in the next several years to meet the changing distribution model. Changes in the insurance industry may create
both opportunities and challenges for the Company.
Management believes consolidation will give brokers the opportunity to decrease distribution costs and eliminate labor-intensive
tasks via automation. The Company believes that increasing competition will force brokers to improve service levels via improved
automated processes such as quoting and claims processing. Management believes that the Company can partner with customers to
provide integrated
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information management solutions, and fully leverage information technology and services. Management expects the consolidation of
the insurance industry to create a marketplace of fewer yet more sophisticated brokers and agents.
Business and Growth Strategy —The Company intends to grow its business in the future both organically and through
additional synergistic acquisitions. Over the past year the Company has emphasized its software development business along with
identifying synergistic acquisitions, while decreasing its emphasis on businesses having more intense competition such as business
process outsourcing and call center.
Products and Services —The Company’s product and service strategy focuses on the following five areas: (1) providing
software development services to insurance carriers, brokers and agents (2) worldwide sale, customization, development,
implementation and support of its insurance carrier system product named Business Reinsurance and Insurance Company System
(“BRICS”), (3) worldwide sales and support of agency management systems including EbixASP and e.global, (4) expansion of
connectivity between consumers, agents, carriers, and third party providers through Ebix.com, LifeLink, INS-Site and Ebix.Exchange
(5) business process outsourcing services, which include call center and back office, either off site or at the Company’s facilities.
Software delivered online through application service provider (“ASP”) models and connectivity products are recorded as services by
the Company. The Company anticipates that future revenue will be provided principally by development services, international
operations, LifeLink, call center services and support.
The Company provides development consulting to brokers, carriers, and agents. Some of the Company’s recent projects for
clients include development of a reinsurance exchange for a European company, design and development of a carrier system over the
web for a large European company, design and development of a sales system for a U.S. company, and development of an online
application, underwriting, policy issuance, and claims system for an insurance carrier, as well as for a musical instrument insurance
Managing General Agent (MGA). In addition, the Company has developed call center and business process outsource operations for
retail agencies and insurance associations .
LifeLink markets a number of software products that provide sales illustrations and quote comparison services to insurance
carriers and wholesalers operating in the life insurance and long-term care markets. The assets of LifeLink acquired by the Company
were utilized by LifeLink in connection with the life insurance sales software applications business, and the Company intends to
continue such use of these assets into the foreseeable future.
In 2001, the Company began marketing the EbixASP product to beta customers and it became available to the general public in
2002. EbixASP is a web-enabled system for insurance agencies to manage their businesses. EbixASP is sold both as a hosted and a
self-hosted product. Revenues generated from the sale of EbixASP hosted by the Company are recorded in services revenue, while
revenues generated from the sale of self-hosted EbixASP are recorded in software revenue. The Company hosted product generates
revenues through initial registration and ongoing monthly subscription fees based on the number of personnel accessing the software.
As a result of the Company’s acquisition of certain assets of Heart in July 2004 the Company focuses on providing ASP based broker
systems to small and midsize brokers in the Austalian market.
Ebix.mall generates revenues through transaction fees billed to insurance agencies and carriers who use the Ebix.com website.
The product “BRICS” referrs to custom software development of systems for insurance carriers on a contractual basis. These
systems are unique for each customer and are client hosted.
EbixExchange is an Internet based service developed by the Company to facilitate connectivity for upload, download, and data
exchange between carriers, agents and third party providers and is part of the
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total revenue generation from the other product offerings which feature EbixExchange as part of their technology. The service was
completed in late 2002 and is currently being used for the download function in EbixASP and the rating functionality in the
Company’s business to consumer exchange, Ebix.mall. In May 2001, the Company purchased the INS-Site product line. The INS-Site
product line could be characterized as an earlier model of EbixExchange, facilitating carrier-to-agent workflow such as download of
policy information, upload of new business or policy change requests, as well as agent inquiry of key policy information such as
status, billing and claims. INS-Site generates revenue through hosting and service fees.
The Company also continues to provide its agency management software product line, which is comprised of “e.global”
(formerly cd.global), a modular, state of the art, agency management solution providing flexibility and the ability to handle
unstructured data and complex risk, and “Ebix.one” (formerly cd.one), a structured system utilizing many features of the Company’s
previous products. The Company also continues to support but no longer sells six “legacy” products: INfinity, INSIGHT, PC-ELITE,
Insurnet, SMART, and Vista. The legacy products provide basic functions such as policy administration, claims handling, accounting,
and financial reporting. The Company expects to maintain and support the legacy products as long as it believes there is adequate
economic and strategic justification. The Company will continue to encourage customers utilizing legacy products to migrate to newer
products.
The software products offered by the Company range in price from $85 per month per seat to $2,700 per license, depending on
whether the customers are obtaining the products through a service hosted by the Company or hosting the products themselves, and
the total contract value for certain multiple-site global brokers can be over $1,000,000. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC (“BRiT”) and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 18% and 23%,
respectively, of consolidated revenue. See note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. In addition to
BriT and its affiliates, one customer, AON, accounted for approximately 11% of consolidated revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2003. AON accounted for less than 10% of the consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2002.
System Design and Architecture —The Company’s new product offerings utilize the latest Internet based architecture.
“e.global” is a client/server based system, which runs on an Oracle relational database software technology. “Ebix.one” is operational
on Pervasive database software.
EbixASP is an e-commerce enabled agency management system that can be hosted on an ASP basis by the Company or licensed
to a customer to self-host. The product is hosted by the Company at a fully managed hosting facility, Sungard eSourcing (“Sungard”),
using a MS-SQL server, Microsoft ASP on multiple servers in a load balanced environment with redundancy in terms of back ups and
downtime. All agencies using EbixASP need only one software product, Microsoft Internet Explorer, as the back end software is
hosted at Sungard.
BRICS is a Microsoft dot net based system that can be hosted on an ASP basis by the Company or licensed to the customer on a
self-hosted basis.
EbixExchange operates on Microsoft dot net technology.
INS-Site is one of the products offered by Ebix under the EbixExchange family of products. This product allows insurance data
to be downloaded from and into multiple insurance company systems automatically. This product is hosted by the Company.
LifeLink is a life insurance sales presentation system.The product is hosted by the Company at a fully managed hosting facility,
Consonus, using a MS-SQL server, Microsoft ASP on multiple servers in a load balanced environment with redundancy in terms of
back ups and downtime.
Backlog —There was no significant backlog as of December 31, 2004 or December 31, 2003.
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Product Development —At December 31, 2004, the Company employed 87 (63 international and 24 domestic) full-time
employees engaged in product development activities. These activities include research and development of software enhancements
such as adding functionality, improving usefulness, increasing responsiveness, adapting to newer software and hardware technologies
and developing and maintaining the website. Development of custom software enhancements for customers can be used in system
development for other customers.
The Company’s development focus is in four areas: (i) continued enhancement of EbixASP and e.global, (ii) developing
technology for insurance carriers, brokers and agents, including, in some cases, hosting the systems developed, (iii) continued
enhancement of EbixExchange, and (iv) continued maintenance of the Ebix.com website.
Product development expenditures were $3,016,000, $1,552,000 and $1,779,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Increases
in product development are a result of the acquisition of LifeLink and an increase in developers internationally. Product development
expenditures related to general product development and specific projects for clients.
Competition —Management believes its principal competition varies by each area of focus.
In the area of connectivity, the Company competes with a large carrier owned network that provides transaction connections to
agents and carriers, and in-house systems developed by carriers. In addition, the Company competes, to a much lesser extent, with
operators of several smaller websites that enter and leave the market on a regular basis.
Key competitive features in the area of connectivity include: (1) ability to complete end-to-end conversion of data between
systems and from input to policy issuance, (2) offerings and services for both personal and commercial lines, (3) affording insurance
customers a marketplace in which insurance can be priced on an objective, competitive basis, and (4) ability to complete transactions
online for insurance customers, agents, and carriers. Management believes that, overall, with respect to Ebix.com, INS-Site, and
EbixExchange, the Company competes favorably with respect to these factors.
In the area of agency management systems, while the Company believes that EbixASP provides a strategic advantage for the
Company, two companies provide client/server software which are in competition with those historically offered by the Company.
These companies are larger than the Company and may have greater resources. Additionally, certain large hardware suppliers sell
systems and system components to independent agencies. The Company also experiences competition to a much lesser extent from
small, independent or freelance developers and suppliers of software who sometimes work in concert with hardware providers to
supply systems to independent agencies.
The Company believes that some insurance carriers continue to operate subsidiaries that actively compete with the Company to
provide agency systems to their in-house agency or brokerage efforts. These carriers generally have much greater financial resources
than the Company and have in the past subsidized the automation of independent agencies through various incentives offered to
promote the sale of the carrier’s insurance products.
In the area of insurance company systems, the Company competes with established venders like Computer Science Corporation
(CSC), Rebus and PMSC. Management believes that its focus and current technology will differentiate it from the competition.
In the area of consulting, the Company competes with hardware, development, and software providers and in-house information
technology departments in carriers and targeted clients. These companies and carriers generally have much greater financial resources
than the Company. The Company also experiences, to a much lesser extent, competition from small, independent or freelance
developers and
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suppliers of software who sometimes work in concert with hardware providers to supply consulting and development.
Key competitive factors for the Company’s software, services and consulting are product technology, features and functions, ease
of use, price, project management, service, reputation, reliability, effects of insurance regulation, insurance knowledge, technology
expertise, and quality of customer support and training. Management believes that, overall, the Company competes favorably with
respect to these factors.
Proprietary Rights —The Company regards its software as proprietary and attempts to protect it with copyrights, trade secret
laws and restrictions on disclosure and transferring title. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for third parties to copy aspects
of the Company’s products or, without authorization, to obtain and use information which the Company regards as trade secrets.
Existing copyright law affords only limited practical protection and the Company’s software is unpatented.
Employees —At December 31, 2004, the Company had 239 employees, including 17 in sales and marketing, 87 in product
development, 73 in customer service and operations, 33 in call center and 29 in general management, administration and finance.
None of the Company’s employees are presently covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Management believes that its relations
with its employees are good.
Risk Factors
You should carefully consider the risks, uncertainties and other factors described below, along with all of the other information
included in this annual report on Form 10-K, because they could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
operating results and prospects and/or the market price of our common stock. This risk factors section is written in response to the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s “plain English” guidelines. In this section, the words “we,” “us,” “our” and “ours” refer to the
Company and not any other person.
Risks Related To Our Business and Our Industry
You may have difficulty evaluating our business because of our limited history of Internet, call center and other business
process outsourcing.
Although our predecessor began operations in 1976, we did not begin any Internet operations until September 1999 and did not
begin generating revenues from these operations until the fourth quarter of 2000. We did not begin any call center or other business
process outsourcing operations or begin generating revenues from these operations until the first quarter of 2003. Accordingly, there is
a limited history of these operations on which you can evaluate our company and prospects. We cannot be certain that our Internet,
call center and other business process outsourcing strategies will be successful, because these strategies are new. Our early-stage
Internet, call center and other business process outsourcing operations will be particularly susceptible to the risks and uncertainties
described in these risk factors and more likely to incur the expenses associated with addressing them. Our prospects must be
considered in light of the risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in a transitional stage of
development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets, such as electronic commerce, and using new and unproven
business models.
Because the support revenue that we have traditionally relied upon has been steadily declining, it is important that new
sources of revenue continue to be developed.
Our revenue from the support services we offer in connection with our legacy software products has been decreasing significantly
over the course of the past few years. This decline can be attributed to the fact that many of our support clients are not renewing their
support agreements with us, in many cases because they are no longer using our legacy software. Even if they are continuing to use
our legacy
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software, our support clients may choose not to renew their support agreements if their legacy software products no longer require
support or they use third party support. In addition, some of the clients who use our support services have reduced the level of support
that we provide them, which in turn reduces our support revenue. This downward trend in our support revenue makes us particularly
dependent upon our other sources of revenue.
Two customers currently provide a significant percentage of our total revenue.
Revenues from one customer, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC and its affiliates, which at March 28, 2005 owned approximately
32.0% of our common stock and approximately 70% of CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, which at that date owned approximately
7.6% of our common stock, represented approximately 18% ($3,551,000) of our total revenue in 2004 and 23% ($3,245,000) of our
total revenue in 2003. If revenues from this customer were to discontinue, our operating results could be adversely affected.
Revenues from another customer, AON, represented approximately 9% ($1,856,000) and 11% ($1,652,000) of our total revenue
in 2004 and 2003. If revenues from this customer were to discontinue, our operating results could be adversely affected.
Adverse insurance industry economics could adversely affect our revenues.
We are dependent on the insurance industry, which may be adversely affected by current economic and world political
conditions.
Our operating results may fluctuate dramatically.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a variety of factors that could affect our revenues
or our expenses in any particular quarter. You should not rely on our results of operations during any particular quarter as an
indication of our results for a full year or any other quarter. Factors that may affect our quarterly results may include the loss of a
significant insurance agent, carrier or broker relationship or the merger of any of our participating insurance carriers with one another.
Our operating expenses are based in part on our expectations of our future revenues and are relatively fixed in the short term. We
may be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected revenue shortfall.
We cannot predict our future capital needs and we may not be able to secure additional financing when we need it.
We may need to raise additional funds in the future in order to fund more aggressive brand promotion or more rapid expansion,
to develop new or enhanced services, to respond to competitive pressures or to make acquisitions. Any required additional financing
may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to
meet our business or strategic objectives or compete effectively. If additional funds are raised by our issuing equity securities,
stockholders may experience dilution of their ownership interests, and the newly issued securities may have rights superior to those of
our common stock. If additional funds are raised by our issuing debt, we may be subject to limitations on our activities.
Any acquisitions that we undertake could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and
harm our operating results.
We recently acquired LifeLink and certain assets of Heart and may in the future acquire or make investments in complementary
businesses, technologies, services or products if appropriate opportunities arise. The process of integrating LifeLink, Heart or any
other acquired business, technology, service or product into our business and operations may result in unforeseen operating difficulties
and expenditures. Integration of an acquired company also may consume much of our management’s time and attention that could
otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business. Moreover, the anticipated benefits
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of the LifeLink and Heart acquisitions or any other acquisition may not be realized. Furthermore, we may be unable to identify,
negotiate or finance future acquisitions successfully. Future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses related to intangible assets.
We may not be able to continue to develop new products to effectively adjust for rapid technological changes.
To be successful, we must adapt to rapidly changing technological and market needs, by continually enhancing our website and
introducing new products and services to address our users’ changing demands.
The marketplaces in which we operate are characterized by:
•

rapidly changing technology;

•

evolving industry standards;

•

frequent new product and service introductions;

•

shifting distribution channels; and

•

changing customer demands.

Our future success will depend on our ability to adapt to this rapidly evolving marketplace. We could incur substantial costs if we
need to modify our services or infrastructure in order to adapt to changes affecting our market, and we may be unable to adapt to these
changes.
The markets for our products are highly competitive and are likely to become more competitive, and our competitors
may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technology and changes in customer requirements.
We operate in highly competitive markets. In particular, the online insurance distribution market, like the broader electronic
commerce market, is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. Our software business also experiences some competition from certain
large hardware suppliers that sell systems and systems’ components to independent agencies and from small, independent or freelance
developers and suppliers of software, who sometimes work in concert with hardware vendors to supply systems to independent
agencies. Our Internet business may also face indirect competition from insurance carriers that have subsidiaries which perform inhouse agency and brokerage functions.
Some of our current competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and
significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do. In addition, we believe we will face increasing competition
as the online financial services industry develops and evolves. Our current and future competitors may be able to:
•

undertake more extensive marketing campaigns for their brands and services;

•

devote more resources to website and systems development;

•

adopt more aggressive pricing policies; and

•

make more attractive offers to potential employees, online companies and third-party service providers.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our reputation and competitiveness in the marketplace may be
materially damaged.
We regard our intellectual property in general and our software in particular as critical to our success. It may be possible for third
parties to copy aspects of our products or, without authorization, to obtain and use information that we regard as trade secrets. Existing
copyright law affords only limited practical protection, and our software is unpatented.
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If we infringe on the proprietary rights of others, we may be at a competitive disadvantage, and any related litigation
could be time consuming and costly.
Third parties may claim that we have violated their intellectual property rights. Any of these claims, with or without merit, could
subject us to costly litigation and divert the attention of key personnel. To the extent that we violate a patent or other intellectual
property right of a third party, we may be prevented from operating our business as planned, and we may be required to pay damages,
to obtain a license, if available, to use the right or to use a non-infringing method, if possible, to accomplish our objectives.
We depend on the continued services of our senior management and our ability to attract and retain other key personnel.
Our future success is substantially dependent on the continued services and continuing contributions of our senior management
and other key personnel, particularly Robin Raina, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Richard J. Baum, our Executive
Vice President—Finance & Administration, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. The loss of the services of any of our executive
officers or other key employees could harm our business. We have no long-term employment agreements with any of our key
personnel, nor do we maintain key man life insurance policies on any of our key employees.
Our future success depends on our continuing to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled employees. If we are not able to attract
and retain new personnel, our business will be harmed. Competition for personnel in our industry is intense. We may be unable to
retain our key employees or attract, assimilate or retain other highly qualified employees in the future.
Our international operations are subject to a number of risks that could affect our income and growth.
We market our software internationally and plan to expand our Internet services to locations outside of the United States. In 2004
we acquired certain assets from Heart Consulting Services Pty. Ltd.. In addition, commencing in 2002, we began development
activities, call center services and other operations in India. Our international operations may not produce enough revenue to justify
our investments in establishing them and are subject to other inherent risks, including:
•

the impact of recessions in foreign economies on the level of consumers’ insurance shopping and purchasing behavior;

•

greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

•

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

•

seasonal reductions in business activity during the summer months in Europe and other parts of the world;

•

burdensome regulatory requirements, other trade barriers and differing business practices;

•

fluctuations in exchange rates;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences; and

•

political and economic instability.

Furthermore, our entry into additional international markets requires significant management attention and financial resources,
which could lessen our ability to manage our existing business effectively.
Laws and regulations that govern the insurance industry could expose us or the agents, brokers and carriers who
participate in our online marketplace to legal penalties.
We perform functions for licensed insurance agents, brokers and carriers and are, therefore, required to comply with a complex
set of rules and regulations that often vary from state to state. These rules and
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regulations can be difficult to comply with and are ambiguous and open to interpretation. If we fail to properly interpret and/or comply
with these rules and regulations, we, the insurance agents, brokers or carriers doing business with us, our officers, or agents with
whom we contract could be subject to various sanctions, including censure, fines, cease-and-desist orders, loss of license or other
penalties. This risk, as well as other laws and regulations affecting our business and changes in the regulatory climate or the
enforcement or interpretation of existing law, could expose us to additional costs, including indemnification of participating insurance
agents, brokers or carriers for their costs, and could require changes to our business or otherwise harm our business. Furthermore,
because the application of online commerce to the consumer insurance market is relatively new, the impact of current or future
regulations on our business is difficult to anticipate. To the extent that there are changes in the rules and regulations regarding the
manner in which insurance is sold, our business could be adversely affected.
Our call center business could be adversely affected by equipment or system interruptions at one or more of our call
centers.
Our call center business is dependent upon our ability to protect our call centers, including the computer and telecommunications
equipment and software systems at those centers, against damage from fire, power loss, telecommunications interruption or failure,
natural disaster and other similar events. In the event we experience a temporary or permanent interruption at one or more of our call
centers, through casualty, operating malfunction or otherwise, our business could be materially adversely affected.
Governmental regulation of the telemarketing industry may increase our costs and restrict the operation and growth of
our call center business.
The telemarketing industry and, therefore, our call center business are subject to an increasing amount of governmental
regulation. In particular, telemarketers are now barred from contacting persons who have registered their phone numbers on the
National Do Not Call Registry maintained by the Federal Trade Commission. We could be subject to a variety of enforcement or
private actions for our failure or the failure of our clients to comply with these regulations. Furthermore, our costs may increase as a
result of having to comply with these regulations, and these regulations may limit our call center activities or reduce the demand for
our call center services.
The outsourcing of business processes to foreign countries may be perceived negatively, which may reduce the demand
for our services and lead to governmental regulation of these activities.
We enable companies to outsource certain business processes, including software development activities and call center services,
to our operations in India. There have been some increasingly negative perceptions of the outsourcing of such processes from the U.S.
to India, which may reduce the demand for these services and may lead to governmental regulation affecting such activities.
Risks Related to Our Conduct of Business on The Internet
Any disruption of our Internet connections could affect the success of our Internet based products.
Any system failure, including network, software or hardware failure, that causes an interruption in our network or a decrease in
responsiveness of our website could result in reduced user traffic and reduced revenue. Continued growth in Internet usage could
cause a decrease in the quality of Internet connection service. Websites have experienced service interruptions as a result of outages
and other delays occurring throughout the Internet network infrastructure. In addition, there have been several incidents in which
individuals have intentionally caused service disruptions of major e-commerce websites. If these outages, delays or service disruptions
frequently occur in the future, usage of our website could grow more slowly than anticipated or decline, and we may lose revenues and
customers.
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If the computer hardware operations that host our website were to experience a system failure, the performance of our website
would be harmed. These systems are also vulnerable to damage from fire, floods, earthquakes, acts of terrorism, power loss,
telecommunications failures, break-ins and similar events. Our property and business interruption insurance coverage may not be
adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur. In addition, our users depend on Internet service providers, online service
providers and other website operators for access to our website. Each of these providers has experienced significant outages in the
past, and could experience outages, delays and other difficulties due to system failures unrelated to our systems.
Concerns regarding security of transactions or the transmission of confidential information over the Internet or security
problems we experience may prevent us from expanding our business or subject us to legal exposure.
If we do not offer sufficient security features in our online product and service offerings, our products and services may not gain
market acceptance, and we could be exposed to legal liability. Despite the measures that we may take, our infrastructure will be
potentially vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses or similar problems. If a person circumvents our security
measures, that person could misappropriate proprietary information or disrupt or damage our operations. Security breaches that result
in access to confidential information could damage our reputation and subject us to a risk of loss or liability. We may be required to
make significant expenditures to protect against or remedy security breaches. Additionally, if we are unable to adequately address our
customers’ concerns about security, we may have difficulty selling our goods and services.
Uncertainty in the marketplace regarding the use of Internet users’ personal information, or proposed legislation limiting
such use, could reduce demand for our services and result in increased expenses.
Concern among consumers and legislators regarding the use of personal information gathered from Internet users could create
uncertainty in the marketplace. This could reduce demand for our services, increase the cost of doing business as a result of litigation
costs or increased service delivery costs, or otherwise harm our business. Legislation has been proposed that would limit the users of
personally identifiable information of Internet users gathered online or require online services to establish privacy policies. Many state
insurance codes limit the collection and use of personal information by insurance agencies, brokers and carriers or insurance service
organizations. Moreover, the Federal Trade Commission has settled a proceeding against one online service that agreed in the
settlement to limit the manner in which personal information could be collected from users and provided to third parties.
Future government regulation of the Internet could place financial burdens on our businesses.
Because of the Internet’s popularity and increasing use, new laws and regulations directed specifically at e-commerce may be
adopted. These laws and regulations may cover issues such as the collection and use of data from website visitors, including the
placing of small information files, or “cookies,” on a user’s hard drive to gather information, and related privacy issues; pricing;
taxation; telecommunications over the Internet; content; copyrights; distribution; domain name piracy; and quality of products and
services. The enactment of any additional laws or regulations, including international laws and regulations, could impede the growth
of our revenue from our Internet operations and place additional financial burdens on our business.
Risks Related To Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock may be extremely volatile.
In some future periods, our results of operations may be below the expectations of public market investors, which could
negatively affect the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, the stock
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market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations in recent years. We believe that, in the future, the market
price of our common stock could fluctuate widely due to variations in our performance and operating results or because of any of the
following factors which are, in large part, beyond our control:
•

announcements of new services, products, technological innovations, acquisitions or strategic relationships by us or our
competitors;

•

trends or conditions in the insurance, software, business process outsourcing and Internet markets;

•

changes in market valuations of our competitors; and

•

general political, economic and market conditions.

In addition, the market prices of securities of technology companies, including our own, have been volatile and have experienced
fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to operating performance. As a result, you may not be able to sell
shares of our common stock at or above the price at which you purchase them. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market
price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against that company. If any securities
litigation is initiated against us, we could incur substantial costs and our management’s attention and resources could be diverted from
our business.
The significant concentration of ownership of our common stock will limit your ability to influence corporate actions.
The concentration of ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in
control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a
sale of our company, and may affect the market price of our common stock. At March 28, 2005, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC
beneficially owned approximately 32.0% of our outstanding common stock and, together with our executive officers and directors,
beneficially owned approximately 48.6% of our outstanding common stock. In addition, at March 28, 2005, CF Epic Insurance and
General Fund, of which BriT owns approximately 70% of the equity interests, beneficially owned 7.6% of our outstanding common
stock. As a result, those stockholders, if they act together, are able to control all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the
election of all directors and approval of significant corporate transactions and amendments to our certificate of incorporation. These
stockholders may use their ownership position to approve or take actions that are adverse to your interests or prevent the taking of
actions that are consistent with your interests.
Item 2.

PROPERTIES

The Company’s corporate headquarters are in Schaumburg (a suburb of Chicago), Illinois, where it leases a 2,900 square foot
location. Substantially all corporate finance and administrative functions are located in Schaumburg. The Company and its
subsidiaries lease additional office space of approximately 9,800 square feet in Atlanta, Georgia and 5,500 square feet in Park City,
Utah. The Company also leases office space in the United States, New Zealand, Australia and Singapore for support and sales offices.
The Company owns two facilities in India with total square footage of approximately 29,000 square feet. The Indian facilities provide
software development and call center services for customers. Management believes its facilities are adequate for its current needs and
that suitable additional or substitute space will be available as needed.
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Item 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to various legal proceedings. The Company does not expect that any
currently pending proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations or financial condition.
Item 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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PART II
Item 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
The principal market for the Company’s common stock is the NASDAQ SmallCap Market. The Company’s common stock
trades under the symbol “EBIX.” As of December 31, 2004, there were 93 holders of record of the Company’s common stock.
The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock to date. The Company currently anticipates that it will retain
any future earnings for the development and operation of its business. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate paying cash
dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future.
The following tables set forth the high and low closing bid prices for the Company’s common stock for each calendar quarter in
2004 and 2003.
Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2004

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2003

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

High

Low

$ 16.94
15.95
14.19
15.25

$ 11.50
11.50
11.75
12.54

High

Low

$ 3.54
6.79
7.20
12.98

$ 2.83
2.84
5.35
5.23

As of March 28, 2005, there were 2,912,491 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
The Company did not sell any unregistered securities during 2004, except as previously disclosed in a quarterly report on
Form 10-Q.
Recent Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company did not purchase any of its equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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Item 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following data for fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and
other financial information included herein.
Consolidated Financial Highlights
(In thousands, except per share data)

Results of Operations:
Revenue
Operating income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Shares used in computing per
share data:
Basic
Diluted
Financial Position:
Total assets
Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Redeemable common stock
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Item 7.

Year
Ended
December 31,
2004

Year
Ended
December 31,
2003

Year
Ended
December 31,
2002

Year
Ended
December 31,
2001

Year
Ended
December 31,
2000

$ 19,983
2,406
$ 2,240

$ 14,433
1,691
$ 1,669

$ 12,651
794
$
502

$ 12,887
201
$
118

$ 11,764
(11,473 )
$ (11,374 )

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.80
0.72

0.73
0.71

0.22
0.22

0.06
0.06

2,784
3,104

2,294
2,349

2,291
2,293

1,920
1,966

$ 31,335
4,477
2,796
4, 262
$ 13,508

$ 11,971
73
—
—
$ 6,692

$ 9,966
114
73
—
$ 4,725

$ 10,426
260
254
—
$ 3,895

(8.02 )
(8.02 )

1,419
1,419
$

6,562
238
317
—
$ (3,264 )

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes
included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. For a discussion of risk uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by the forward looking statements, see “Item 1. Business—Risk
Factors.” See also, “Safe Harbor for forward-looking statements under the Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995.”
The Company’s product and service strategy focuses on the following five areas: (1) providing software development services to
insurance carriers, brokers and agents (2) worldwide sale, customization, development, implementation and support of its insurance
carrier system product BRICS, (3) worldwide sales and support of agency management systems including EbixASP and eglobal,
(4) expansion of connectivity between consumers, agents, carriers, and third party providers through Ebix.com, LifeLink, INS-Site
and Exchange (5) business process outsourcing services, which include call center and back office, either off site or at the Company’s
facilities. Software delivered online through application service provider (“ASP”) models and connectivity products are recorded as
services by the Company. The Company anticipates that future revenue will be provided principally by development services, the sale
and licensing of BRICS, international operations, LifeLink, call center services and support.
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The product referred to as “BRICS” pertains to custom software development of systems for insurance carriers on a contractual
basis to which the Company plans to ascribe increased focus in the future. These systems are unique for each customer and are client
hosted.
During 2004, the Company completed two synergistic acquisitions (LifeLink and Heart) which have added revenue and earnings
to the Company’s consolidated results in a proportionate amount (no dilution). The Company intends to seek to increase revenue and
income in the future through identification of additional synergistic acquisitions and through increasing emphasis on the sale and
licensing of large scale development projects for insurance carriers, brokers and agents, where the margins are the greatest.
During 2004, the Company entered into various software and service agreements with BRiT, which beneficially owned
approximately 32% of the Company’s outstanding common stock at March 28, 2005 (see note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements included herein). In addition, at March 28, 2005, CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, of which BRiT owns approximately
70% of the equity interests, beneficially owned 7.6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Approximately $3,551,000 was
recognized as revenue during 2004 from BRiT and its affiliates, representing approximately 18% of the Company’s total revenue for
that year . Total accounts receivable related to BRiT and its affiliates at December 31, 2004 were $718,000. The Company expects to
continue these types of arrangements with BRiT and its affiliates. These agreements relate to the customization of EbixASP for the
European markets in addition to hosting, development, and transaction fees.
In 2001, the Company began marketing the EbixASP product and it became available to the general public in 2002. EbixASP is a
web-enabled system for insurance agencies to manage their businesses. This product generates revenues through initial registration
and ongoing monthly subscription fees based on the number of personnel accessing the software. During 2004, the Company
recognized revenue of $748,000 related to EbixASP.
The Company also continues to provide its agency management software product line, comprised of “e.global” (formerly
cd.global), a modular, state of the art, agency management solution providing flexibility and the ability to handle unstructured data
and complex risk, and “Ebix.one” (formerly cd.one), a structured system utilizing many features of the Company’s previous products.
The Company also continues to support, but no longer sells, six “legacy” products: INfinity, INSIGHT, PC-ELITE, Insurnet, SMART,
and Vista. The legacy products provide basic functions such as policy administration, claims handling, accounting and financial
reporting. The Company expects to maintain and support the legacy products as long as it believes there is adequate economic and
strategic justification. The Company will continue to encourage customers utilizing legacy products to migrate to newer products.
Critical Accounting Policies —The Company’s “critical accounting policies” are those that require application of management’s
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about matters that are inherently
uncertain and may change in future periods. We have identified the following as our critical accounting policies: revenue recognition
and estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable and income taxes.
Revenue recognition —We derive our revenue primarily from two sources: (1) product revenue, which includes software
licenses and (2) services and support revenue, which includes software license maintenance, software development, training,
consulting and hosting revenue. As described below, significant management judgments and estimates must be made and used in
connection with the revenue recognized in any accounting period. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our
revenue for any period if our management made different judgments or utilized different estimates.
In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) finalized the terms of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” (“EITF 00-21”),

18

which provides criteria governing how to identify whether goods or services that are to be delivered separately in a bundled sales
arrangement should be accounted for separately. Deliverables are accounted for separately if they meet all of the following criteria:
a) the delivered items have stand-alone value to the customer; b) the fair value of any undelivered items can be reliably determined;
and c) if the arrangement includes a general right of return, delivery of the undelivered items is probable and substantially controlled
by the seller. The Company adopted EITF 00-21 on July 1, 2003 for all new revenue arrangements executed subsequent to June 30,
2003 (or significant modification to arrangements existing prior to July 1, 2003). The Company’s current policy is to analyze all new
revenue arrangements.
To the extent arrangements contain multiple deliverables, the Company performs an analysis of the nature of the deliverables to
determine to what extent the deliverables of the arrangement are governed by any higher level literature (as defined in EITF 00-21).
EITF 00-21 recognizes arrangements that qualify for treatment under SOP 97-2 and certain arrangements that qualify for contract
accounting (i.e. SOP 81-1) as falling under the definition of “higher level literature”. The Company applies the provisions of SOP 972, as amended by Statement of Position 98-9, “Modifications of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain
Transactions,” to all arrangements which include software deliverables that are considered more than inconsequential to the other
elements in the arrangements. For 2004, all of the Company’s contracts with multiple deliverables fell under higher level accounting
literature under the provisions of SOP 97-2 and/or SOP 81-1.
Although the Company was not impacted in the current year by the adoption of EITF 00-21, it is possible that EITF 00-21 may
affect future periods given the additional revenue streams the Company has initiated, as well as through the acquisition activities of
the Company.
The Company recognizes revenue for license fees from its software products upon delivery, provided that the fee is fixed and
determinable, acceptance has occurred, collectibility is probable and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Management uses
signed contractual agreements as persuasive evidence of an arrangement where fee information is documented. The Company
performs credit checks on new customers to verify that collectibility will be probable. Revenue from third party software is derived
from the licensing of third party software products in connection with sales of the Company’s software licenses, and is generally
recognized upon delivery together with the Company’s license revenue. Training, data conversion, installation, and consulting
services are generally recognized as revenue when the services are performed and collectibility is probable. Revenue for maintenance
and support service is recognized ratably over the term of the support agreement.
For arrangements containing multiple elements, revenue is recognized on delivered elements when vendor-specific objective
evidence (VSOE) of fair value has been established on the undelivered elements, applying the residual method of SOP 98-9. Fair
value is determined for each undelivered element based on the price charged for the sale of each element separately. In contracts that
contain first year maintenance bundled with software fees, unbundling of maintenance is based on the price charged for renewal
maintenance. Revenue for maintenance and support service is recognized ratably over the term of the support agreement.
Revenues related to hosting arrangements, including monthly fees as well as any initial registration fees and related custom
programming, are recognized ratably over the term of the agreement in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 104
“Revenue Recognition.” Transaction fees are recognized as revenue as the transactions occur and revenue is earned. Revenue is only
recognized when collectiblity is probable.
Deferred revenue includes maintenance and support payments or billings that have been received or recorded prior to
performance, and, in certain cases, cash collections, amounts received under multi-element arrangements in which VSOE of
undelivered elements does not exist; and initial registration fees and related service fees under hosting agreements. Revenue is
recognized when VSOE of the
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undelivered elements is established, the elements are delivered, or the obligation to deliver the elements is extinguished.
Software arrangements involving significant customization, modification or production are accounted for in accordance with
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance on Construction-Type
and Certain Production-Type Contracts,” using the percentage-of-completion method. The Company recognizes revenue using actual
hours worked as a percentage of total expected hours required by the arrangement, provided that the fee is fixed and determinable,
evidence of an arrangement exists and the recovery of any related asset is considered probable.
For business process outsourcing agreements, which include call center services, services are primarily performed on a time and
material basis. Revenue is recognized when the service is performed.
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable —The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires our management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Specifically, our management must make estimates of the
collectability of our accounts receivable. Management specifically analyzes accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad debts,
customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in our customer payment terms when
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our accounts receivable balance was $3,256,000, net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $13,000 as of December 31, 2004.
Income taxes —The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Although future taxable income of
the Company may be sufficient to utilize a substantial amount of the benefits of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and
to realize its deferred tax assets, a valuation allowance was recorded to offset the carrying value of the Company’s deferred tax assets,
as management concluded that the realization of its deferred tax assets does not meet the “more likely than not” criteria under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”
The Company’s estimated effective tax rate for future periods is dependent on the mix of jurisdictions where taxable income is
generated. The effective income tax rate for any year or period is not indicative of the future and could fluctuate substantially.
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Results of Operations
Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2004

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Year Ended
December 31,
2002

869
19,114

$ 1,498
12,935

$ 1,837
10,814

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Services and other costs
Product development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Amortization and depreciation

19,983

14,433

12,651

5,450
3,016
1,602
6,324
1,185

4,210
1,552
1,616
4,922
442

3,898
1,779
1,605
4,190
385

Total operating expenses

17,577

12,742

11,857

2,406

1,691

794

Revenue:
Software
Services and other

$

Operating income

Total Revenue — The Company’s revenue has been derived from the licensing and sale of proprietary software and third party
software (“Software”) and from professional services and support services (“Services”). Services include consulting, implementation,
training and project management provided to the Company’s customers with installed systems and those in the process of installing
systems. Also included in Services are fees for software license maintenance, LifeLink services, Heart services, initial registration and
ongoing monthly subscription fees for the EbixASP product and transaction fees generated from the Ebix.mall website, as well as
software development and call center revenue. Total revenue is comprised of Software revenue and Services revenue.
•

Total revenue for 2004 increased $5,550,000, or 38.5%, from 2003, see discussion of Software revenue and Services Revenue
below.

•

Total revenue for 2003 increased $1,782,000, or 14.1%, from 2002, see discussion of Software revenue and Services Revenue
below.

•

Total Software revenue for 2004 decreased $629,000, or 42.0%, from 2003. The Company expects future revenue to be
comprised primarily of Services revenue.

•

Total Software revenue for 2003 decreased $339,000, or 18.5%, from 2002.

•

Total Services revenue for 2004 increased $6,179,000, or 47.8%, from 2003. This increase was due to the addition of LifeLink
revenue of approximately $4,684,000 and Heart revenue of approximately $1,706,000 and increases in consulting revenue of
$1,543,000, Ebix.mall revenue of $187,000 and hosting revenue of $109,000, partially offset by a decrease in support revenue
associated with legacy products of $800,000, a decrease in call center revenue of $493,000, a decrease in Ebix ASP revenue of
$445,000 and a decrease in INS-Site revenue of $312,000.
During 2004, 2003, and 2002, approximately $3,551,000, $3,245,000 and $2,102,000, respectively, was recognized as Services
revenue from BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC (“BRiT”) and its affiliates related to call center and development projects.
Revenue from BRiT and its affiliates represented 18%, 23% and 17% of the Company’s total revenues for 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. BRiT owned approximately 32% of the Company’s common stock as of March 28, 2005. In addition, as of
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March 28, 2005, CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, of which BRiT owns approximately 70% of the equity interests as of
such date, beneficially owned 7.6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock.
Total revenue for 2004 increased $5,550,000 or 38.5% from 2003, while revenue from BRiT in 2004 increased $305,000 or
9% from 2003. The revenues from BRiT and its affiliates relate to projects for call center and software development services.
Total revenue for 2003 increased $1,782,000 or 14.1% from 2002, and revenue from BRiT in 2003 increased $1,143,000 or
54% from 2002. Increases in revenues from BRiT Holdings PLC and its affiliates during each of the periods presented were a
result of BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC and its affiliates adding additional development projects and expanding the scope of
the current projects.
Support revenue associated with the Company’s legacy products is decreasing due to a trend of declining renewals for these
older product offerings.

2004
2003
2002

Support
Revenue

Total
Revenue

$ 3,346,000
$ 4,146,000
$ 5,188,000

$ 19,983,000
$ 14,433,000
$ 12,651,000

Support revenue decreased $800,000, or 19%, and as a percentage of total revenue to 17% from 29%, in 2004 compared to
2003. Support revenue decreased $1,042,000, or 20%, and as a percentage of total revenue to 29% from 41%, in 2003
compared to 2002.
Based on historical data, the Company expects that legacy support revenue will continue to decrease by approximately 20%
each year on a declining balance. The Company expects the legacy support revenue will continue as long as it is economically
feasible for the Company to maintain and support the legacy products. As revenue from the legacy support decreases, costs
will be reduced. When income from legacy support falls below break even, operations will be reviewed to determine if costs
can be further reduced for the activity to be profitable and, if not, the Company will discontinue supporting the legacy product.
The Company cannot predict when this will occur.
The Company expects that future Services revenue will be derived from this support, the sale of BRICS, as well as EbixASP
registration and monthly fees, LifeLink services, Heart services, software development and call center and to a much lesser
extent, all transaction revenues from Ebix.mall and EbixExchange (INS-Site), conversion and training.
•

Total Services revenue for 2003 increased $2,121,000, or 19.6%, from 2002. This increase was due to increases in call center
revenue of $626,000, EbixASP revenue of $1,181,000, consulting revenues of $1,566,000, and Ebix.mall revenues of $78,000,
partially offset by a decrease in INS-Site revenue of $289,000 and decrease in support revenue associated with legacy products
of $1,041,000.
Services and other costs — Services and other costs include costs associated with support, call center consulting,
implementation and training services.

•

Total services and other costs for 2004 increased $1,240,000, or 29.5%, from 2003. This increase was due to an increase in
payroll expenses related to the acquisition of LifeLink of $505,000 and Heart of $258,000, an increase in facility costs of
$205,000, an increase in expenses for required services to support the Company’s products of $201,000, an increase in
international support costs of $39,000 and an increase in non-LifeLink payroll of $32,000.
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•

Total services and other costs for 2003 increased $312,000, or 8.0%, from 2002. This increase was due to the increase in
services revenue. Due to a change in the mix of services provided, services with higher costs represented a lower percentage of
the total.

Product development expenses—
•

Total product development expenses for 2004 increased $1,464,000, or 94.3%, from 2003. This increase was due to an
increase in payroll expenses related to LifeLink of $1,029,000, annual salary increases of $174,000 and an increase in India
payroll expenses of $57,000. In addition facility costs increased $210,000 as a result of an increase in headcount. These
increases were partially offset by a $6,000 decrease in travel and entertainment expenses.

•

Total product development expenses for 2003 decreased $227,000, or 12.8%, from 2002. The Company has established a
wholly-owned subsidiary located in Delhi, India. In May 2002, the Company began to redirect product development activities
to employees of its wholly-owned subsidiary that were previously outsourced by the Company, resulting in lower development
costs for 2003 compared to 2002.

Sales and marketing expenses—
•

Total sales and marketing expenses for 2004 approximated the total sales and marketing expenses from 2003. The sales and
marketing focus has remained constant. Management does not anticipate future sales and marketing expenses to fluctuate
significantly.

•

Total sales and marketing expenses for 2003 approximated the total sales and marketing expenses from 2002.

General and administrative expenses—
•

Total general and administrative expenses for 2004 increased $1,402,000, or 28.5%, from 2003. This increase was due to
operating expenses related to Heart of $376,000 an increase in international expenses of $78,000, an increase in payroll
expenses related to the acquisition of LifeLink of $296,000, an increase in non-LifeLink payroll of $109,000 an increase in bad
debt expense $94,000, an increase in professional fees of $258,000 and an general increase in business operations due to the
acquisition of LifeLink and Heart of approximately $191,000.

•

Total general and administrative expenses for 2003 increased $732,000, or 17.5%, from 2002. This increase was due to an
increase in management bonus expenses and an increase in costs related to the start-up of the Indian operations, which were
established in May 2002.

Amortization and depreciation expenses—
•

Total amortization and depreciation expenses for 2004 increased $743,000, or 168% from 2003. This increase was due to a
charge for amortization of intangibles related to the LifeLink acquisition of $491,000 and Heart acquisition of $154,000 and an
increase in depreciation expense of $98,000 primarily related to an increase in assets acquired as a result of the LifeLink
acquisition. Future expenses related to the amortization of Heart and LifeLink intangible assets are expected to be $882,000 for
the years 2005 thru 2007, $795,000 for 2008, $424,000 for 2009 and $367,000 for 2010. See notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for detail relating to the allocation of value of
intangible assets.

•

Total amortization and depreciation expenses for 2003 increased $57,000, or 14.8%, from 2002. This increase was due to an
increase in assets related to the India operations, which were established in May 2002.
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Interest expenses—
•

Total interest expenses for 2004 increased $205,000 from 2003. This increase was due to line of credit interest of $83,000 and
interest related to the notes for the acquisitions of Heart and LifeLink of $135,000, partially offset by a $13,000 decrease in
interest expense related to capital leases.

•

Total interest expenses for 2003 decreased $22,000 from 2002. This decrease was due primarily to a decrease in interest
expense related to capital leases.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $5,843,000 and $3,000,000 of restricted cash (as described below) at
December 31, 2004. The Company’s cash balances at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $7,915,000 and $4,993,000, respectively.
During 2004, the Company generated operating cash flow of $2,810,000, compared to operating cash flow of $3,343,000 in
2003, due primarily to $2,240,000 in net income, $1,185,000 of amortization and depreciation, and an increase in deferred revenue of
$170,000, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $841,000, an increase in other assets of $99,000 and a decrease in
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $49,000. The accounts receivable increase is primarily due to LifeLink receivables, which
were $955,000 at December 31, 2004. These balance sheet fluctuations are normal consequences of timing differences between
accruals and their cash settlement.
During 2003, the Company generated operating cash flow of $3,343,000, compared to negative operating cash flow of $742,000
in 2002, due primarily to $1,669,000 in net income (an increase of approximately $1,167,000 from the prior year) and collections of
accounts receivables, primarily from BRiT and its affiliates, of $1,062,000 (compared to an increase in accounts receivable of
$925,000 in 2002). These accounts receivable arose from services provided (and related revenues which were recognized) in the prior
period, and they generated cash in 2003 due to differences in timing from the collections for services provided.
During 2004, cash used in investing activities of $8,522,000 (an increase of approximately $7,967,000 over the prior year as
discussed below) represented expenditures made primarily as a result of the Company’s acquisitions of LifeLink and the assets of
Heart. Cash provided by financing activities of $3,640,000 in 2004 resulted primarily from the Company’s sale of common stock
during the first quarter of 2004 of $2,977,000 and borrowings of $3,500,000 on the Company’s existing line of credit during the
second quarter of 2004 partially offset by the restricted cash required for the line of credit of $3,000,000.
During 2003, cash used in investing activities of $555,000 (an increase of approximately $17,000 over the prior year) represented
capital expenditures made as a result of the Company’s investment in India and the related purchase of assets for that location. The
cash provided by financing activities of $34,000 in 2003 (compared to cash used in financing activities in the prior year) resulted from
the Company’s proceeds from the exercise of common stock options, partially offset by the repayment of debt obligations.
In 2004, 18% and 9% of the Company’s total revenues were from two customers—BRiT and its affiliates and AON, respectively.
Neither BRiT nor AON have long-term agreements with the Company that provide certainty that such revenues and related cash flows
will be recurring.
In October 2002, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit, secured by a perfected first security interest in the
Company’s assets, for $1,000,000, with interest payable on outstanding borrowings at the prime rate. The existing revolving line of
credit with LaSalle National Bank Association was increased to $5,000,000 during February 2004 and the agreement was amended in
April 2004. Major features of the line, as amended, include an interest rate stated at prime, security at 60% of the amount of the line in
a restricted interest bearing account and timely financial reporting requirements. The line of
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credit will expire on October 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2004 total borrowings on this line were $3,500,000 of which $3,000,000
was classified as restricted cash and was restricted from use in accordance with the line of credit agreement. The agreement provides
that the line is secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets. On February 23, 2005, the Company entered into a second
amendment to the credit agreement which was effective as of December 31, 2004 and added a requirement that the Company include
in its quarterly deliveries to the bank an income statement of the Company showing EBITDA (as defined in the agreement) of the
Company, eliminated the covenant of the Company to maintain a minimum tangible net worth (as defined in the agreement) and
added a covenant that the Company maintain a maximum senior debt to EBITDA ratio. This amendment memorialized an
understanding that had been reached with the lender prior to December 31, 2004. Giving effect to the amendment as of December 31,
2004, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.
On February 23, 2004, the Company acquired LifeLink Corporation (“LifeLink”), and the operations of LifeLink have been
included in the Company’s financial statements since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of LifeLink from its shareholders in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $10,354,000, payable as
follows: $5,000,000 paid in cash at closing, $2,500,000 in a non-interest bearing note payable in cash in annual installments of
$500,000 over five years (present value computed as $2,226,000), and $3,000,000 payable in 200,000 shares of the common stock of
the Company issued at the time of closing. See note 13 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for a
discussion of the redeemable common stock.
On July 1, 2004, Ebix Australia Pty Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired certain operating assets
of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd (“Heart”), and the operations of Heart have been included in the Company’s financial statements
since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired the operating assets of Heart in exchange for an aggregate
purchase price of $7,116,000 payable as follows: $3,619,000 paid in cash at closing (subsequent to closing the former owner paid the
Company $467,000 for deferred revenue and a vacation accrual settlement), $1,399,000 payable under stand-by letters of credit issued
by the Company’s lender on the Company’s line of credit in three equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third
anniversaries of the closing (present value computed as $1,293,000), and $2,098,000 payable in 157,728 shares of the common stock
of the Company issued at the time of closing. See note 14 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for a
discussion of the redeemable common stock.
In planning for its capital needs, the Company takes into account its sources of cash, which include operating cash flow, cash
balances and funds from credit facilities, and anticipated future cash needs, which include working capital requirements for operations,
capital expenditures, and expenditures for business acquisitions. Based on these considerations, the Company believes it will have
sufficient cash for operations and to satisfy its contractual obligations for at least the next several years.
Payment Due by Period
Less Than
1 - 3 Years
3 - 5 Years
1 Year
(in thousands)

Total

More than
5 years

Contractual Obligations:
Long-Term Debt Obligations(1)(2)
Operating Leases Obligations

$ 11,498
2,623

$ 7,166
771

$ 3,832
995

$

500
660

—
197

Total

$ 14,121

$ 7,937

$ 4,827

$ 1,160

$ 197

(1) $2,700,000 (included in the Less Than 1 Year column) is contingent upon exercise of the holder’s put option to require the
Company to purchase the holder’s redeemable common stock in connection with the LifeLink acquisition. See note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
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(2) $1,399,000 (included in the 1 - 3 Years column) is contingent upon exercise of the holder’s put option to require the Company to
purchase the holder’s redeemable common stock in connection with the Heart acquisition. See note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards —In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123R”), which revises and replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Payment” and
supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” FAS 123R requires the measurement of all sharebased payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair-value based method and the recording of such
expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The pro-forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS
No. 123 will no longer be an alternative to financial statement recognition. The provisions of FAS 123R are effective for reporting
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is evaluating the requirements of FAS 123R, but because the Company is
accounting for employee stock option grants in a footnote disclosure as permitted by SFAS No. 123, the adoption of FAS 123R will
have an impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations. See Note 1 for an illustration of the historical effects of
expensing options.
In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FAS 109-2”). The American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 allows for a special one-time dividends received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer if
certain criteria are met. The provisions of FAS 109-2 were effective immediately upon issuance. The Company does not expect that
the adoption of FAS 109-2 will have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited):
The following is the unaudited quarterly financial information for 2004 and 2003:
First
Second
Third
Fourth
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
(in thousands, except share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2004
Total revenues
Operating income
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Total revenues
Operating income
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$ 3,934 $ 4,676 $ 5,656 $ 5,717
551
741
1,000
114
446
710
981
103
$ 0.17 $ 0.26 $ 0.34 $ 0.03
$ 0.15 $ 0.23 $ 0.31 $ 0.03
$ 3,612 $ 3,295 $ 4,168 $ 3,358
622
218
659
192
516
89
575
489
$ 0.23 $ 0.04 $ 0.25 $ 0.21
$ 0.23 $ 0.04 $ 0.24 $ 0.20

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The Company is subject to certain market risks, including foreign currency and interest rates. The majority of the Company’s
operations are based in the U.S. and, accordingly, the majority of our transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars. However, we have
foreign-based operations where transactions are denominated in foreign currencies and are subject to market risk with respect to
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fluctuations in the relative value of currencies. Currently, the Company has operations in Australia, Canada, India, New Zealand and
Singapore and conduct transactions in the local currencies of each location. There can be no assurance that fluctuations in the value of
foreign currencies will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, revenues or financial
condition. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, the net change in the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment account, which is a
component of stockholders’ equity, was an unrealized gain of $446,000, $100,000 and $327,000, respectively. The Company considered
the historical trends in currency exchange rate and determined that it was reasonably possible that adverse changes in exchange rates
of 20% for all currencies could be experienced in the near term. Such adverse changes would have resulted in an adverse impact on
income before income taxes of approximately $214,000, $198,000, and $102,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its debt obligations and to its interest income as it relates to the
outstanding cash balances. While the Company has interest rate risk related to its line of credit at December 31, 2004, the exposure is
mitigated by the interest income on the restricted balance of $3,000,000 . As of December 31, 2003, the Company had no debt
outstanding. The Company’s market risk at December 31, 2004, is the potential loss of interest income arising from adverse changes
in interest rates. Interest rate risk is estimated as the potential decrease in pre-tax income resulting from a hypothetical 10% decrease
in effective interest rates on the Company’s outstanding cash balance. The Company does not feel such a loss of interest income
would be significant to its results of operations.
The Company does not currently use any derivative financial instruments.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See also the “Quarterly Financial Information” included under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Ebix, Inc.
Schaumburg, Illinois
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year then ended.
We have also audited the 2004 schedule listed in the accompanying index. These financial statements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule
based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and
schedules are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and schedules,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements and schedules. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Ebix, Inc. at December 31, 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also, in our opinion, the 2004 schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 18, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Ebix, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of
the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2003. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we
also have audited the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in Item 15. These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Ebix, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 19, 2004
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,
2004

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $13 and $356
Other current assets

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Line of credit
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and related benefits
Current portion of long term debt
Current portion of capital lease obligation
Deferred revenue

Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible Series D Preferred stock, $.10 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized,
no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003
Common stock, $.10 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 2,911,154 and
2,316,767 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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7,915
—
1,787
364
10,066
1,353
109
123
—
320

$ 31,335

$ 11,971

$

Total current liabilities
Long term debt, less current portion
Redeemable common stock (357,728 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively) stated at redemption
price

$

12,686
1,450
—
12,669
4,234
296

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Capitalized software, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets

5,843
3,000
3,256
587

December 31,
2003

3,500
1,781
1,522
977
—
2,989

$

—
1,778
1,287
—
73
2,141

10,769
2,796

5,279
—

4,262

—

—

—

291
92,717
(376 )
(80,011 )
887

232
88,706
(436 )
(82,251 )
441

13,508

6,692

$ 31,335

$ 11,971

Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31,
2004

Revenue:
Software
Services and other (Including revenues from related parties
of $3,551, $3,245 and $2,102, respectively. See note 2)

$

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Services and other costs
Product development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Amortization and depreciation
Total operating expenses

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Year Ended
December 31,
2002

869

$ 1,498

$ 1,837

19,114

12,935

10,814

19,983

14,433

12,651

5,450
3,016
1,602
6,324
1,185

4,210
1,552
1,616
4,922
442

3,898
1,779
1,605
4,190
385

17,577

12,742

11,857

Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Foreign exchange gain (loss)

2,406
151
(222 )
48

1,691
78
(17 )
13

794
89
(39 )
(255 )

Income before income taxes
Income tax provision

2,383
(143 )

1,765
(96 )

589
(87 )

Net income

$ 2,240

$ 1,669

$

502

Basic earnings per common share

$

0.80

$

0.73

$

0.22

Diluted earnings per common share

$

0.72

$

0.71

$

0.22

Basic weighted average shares outstanding

2,784

2,294

2,291

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

3,104

2,349

2,293

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Preferred Stock
Shares Amount
Balance, December 31,
2001
Net income
Cumulative translation
adjustment
Comprehensive income
Shares issued to round
fractional shares related
to reverse stock split
Deferred compensation and
amortization related to
options and warrants
Balance, December 31,
2002
Net income
Cumulative translation
adjustment
Comprehensive income
Exercise of stock options
Deferred compensation and
amortization related to
options
Balance, December 31,
2003
Net income
Cumulative translation
adjustment
Comprehensive income
Exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of
common stock
Expenses related to
issuance of common
stock
Reclass of guarantees
Deferred compensation and
amortization related to
options
Balance, December 31,
2004

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Additional
Common Stock
Deferred
Accumulated
Paid-in
(Loss)
Shares Amount
Capital
Compensation
Deficit
Income

—
—

$—
—

2,290,773
—

$ 229
—

$ 88,514
—

—

—

—

—

—

$ (440 )
—
—

$ (84,422 )
502
—

Comprehensive
Income

Total

$ 14
—

$ 3,895
502

327

327

$ 502
327
$ 829

—

—

370

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(73 )

74

—

—

1

—
—

$—
—

2,291,143
—

$ 229
—

$ 88,441
—

$ 341
—

$ 4,725
1,669

—

—

—

—

—

100

100

$ (366 )
—
—

$ (83,920 )
1,669
—

$ 1,669
100
$ 1,769

—

—

25,624

3

145

—

—

—

148

—

—

—

—

120

(70)

—

—

50

—

$—

2,316,767

$ 232

$ 88,706

$ (436 )

$ 441

$ 6,692

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,240

—

2,240

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

446

446

$ (82,251 )

$ 2,240
446
$ 2,686

—

—

14,436

1

81

—

—

—

82

—

—

579,951

58

8,039

—

—

—

8,097

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(23 )
(4,097 )

—
—

—
—

—
—

(23 )
(4,097 )

—

—

—

—

11

60

—

—

71

—

$—

2,911,154

$ 291

$ 92,717

$ 887

$ 13,508

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ (376 )

$ (80,011 )

Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and related benefits
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in LifeLink, net of cash acquired
Investment in Heart, net of cash acquired
Capital expenditures
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from line of credit
Restricted cash
Repayments of debt
Payments for capital lease obligations
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing activities:
During the first quarter of 2004, the Company purchased all of the capital stock of
LifeLink Corporation for consideration which included 200,000 shares of
common stock valued at $3,000,000, cash of $5,000,000, and a note payable of
$2,226,000. The Company also capitalized approximately $128,000 of
transaction costs in conjunction with the acquisition.
During the third quarter of 2004, Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. acquired the operating
assets of Heart Consulting Services PTY Ltd. in exchange for an aggregate
purchase price (in Australian dollars) of A$10,175,000 ($7,116,000 USD) (based
on the exchange rate as published by the Reserve Bank of Australia on July 1,
2004 of A$0.6994 per United States Dollar (“USD”)) payable as follows:
A$5,175,000 ($3,619,000 USD) in cash at closing, A$2,000,000 ($1,399,000
USD) payable under stand-by letters of credit issued by the Company’s lender
on the Company’s line of credit in three equal annual installments on each of the
first, second and third anniversaries of the closing (the “Deferred Payments”),
and A$3,000,000 ($2,098,000 USD) payable in 157,728 shares of common stock
of Ebix issued at the closing. The Company also capitalized approximately
$241,000 of transaction costs in conjunction with the acquisition.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended
December 31,
2004

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Year Ended
December 31,
2002

$ 2,240

$ 1,669

1,185
108
71

442
14
50

(841 )
(99 )
(49 )
25
170
2,810

1,062
(46 )
(55 )
945
(738 )
3,343

(925 )
(145 )
(1,049 )
(32 )
12
(742 )

(4,763 )
(3,393 )
(366 )
(8,522 )

—
—
(555 )
(555 )

—
—
(538 )
(538 )

2,977
3,500
(3,000 )
—
(73 )
82
3,486
154
(2,072 )
7,915

—
—
—
—
(114 )
148
34
100
2,922
4,993

—
—
—
(87 )
(134 )
—
(221 )
327
(1,174 )
6,167

$

502

385
509
1

$ 5,843

$ 7,915

$ 4,993

$

$

$

86
386

17
341
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(All dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Nature of Business —Ebix, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) market software to insurance agents and brokers operating in
the insurance industry and provide customer support and maintenance services through out the U.S and the world. In addition, the
Company provides other implementation and consulting services such as training, data conversion, installation, software development
and call center. The Company’s product and service strategy focuses on the following five areas: (1) providing software development
services to insurance carriers, brokers and agents (2) worldwide sale, customization, development, implementation and support of its
insurance carrier system product BRICS, (3) worldwide sales and support of agency management systems including EbixASP and
eglobal, (4) expansion of connectivity between consumers, agents, carriers, and third party providers through Ebix.com, LifeLink,
INS-Site and Exchange (5) business process outsourcing services, which include call center and back office, either off site or at the
Company’s facilities. Software delivered online through application service provider (“ASP”) models and connectivity products are
recorded as services by the Company. The Company anticipates that future revenue will be provided principally by development
services, sale of the BRICS product, international operations, LifeLink services, call center services and support.
Consolidation —The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ebix, Inc., (“Ebix USA”), its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Delphi Information Systems International, Inc. (“Delphi International”), both Delaware corporations and its wholly owned
subsidiaries Ebix Software India Private Limited, Ebix Australia Pty. Ltd. (VIC) and all subsidiaries of Delphi International.
Reclassification —Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation. Amortization and
depreciation was broken out in the current year and reclassified in the prior years due to the increase in amortization as a result of the
current year acquisitions and the related intangible assets.
Reverse Stock Split —On October 1, 2002, the Company affected a 1-for-8 reverse split of its common stock. All share
information in these consolidated financial statements and footnotes have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.
Revenue Recognition —We apply the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as
amended by Statement of Position 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain
Transactions,” to all transactions involving the sale of software.
In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) finalized the terms of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (EITF 00-21), which provides criteria governing how to identify
whether goods or services that are to be delivered separately in a bundled sales arrangement should be accounted for separately.
Deliverables are accounted for separately if they meet all of the following: a) the delivered items have stand-alone value to the
customer; b) the fair value of any undelivered items can be reliably determined; and c) if the arrangement includes a general right of
return, delivery of the undelivered items is probable and substantially controlled by the seller. The Company adopted EITF 00-21 on
July 1, 2003 for all new revenue arrangements executed subsequent to June 30, 2003 (or significant modification to arrangements
existing prior to July 1, 2003). The Company’s current policy is to analyze all new revenue arrangements.
To the extent arrangements contain multiple deliverables, the Company performs an analysis of the nature of the deliverables to
determine to what extent the deliverables of the arrangement are governed by
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Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)
any higher level literature (as defined in EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 recognizes arrangements that qualify for treatment under SOP 97-2
and certain arrangements that qualify for contract accounting (i.e. SOP 81-1) as falling under the definition of “higher level literature”.
The Company applies the provisions of SOP 97-2, as amended by Statement of Position 98-9, “Modifications of SOP 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions,” to all arrangements which include software deliverables that are
considered more than inconsequential to the other elements in the arrangements. For 2004, all of the Company’s contracts with
multiple deliverables have fallen under higher level accounting literature under the provisions of SOP 97-2 and/or SOP 81-1.
Although the Company has not been impacted in the current year by the adoption of EITF 00-21, it is possible that EITF 00-21
may affect future periods given the additional revenue streams the Company has initiated, as well as the acquisition activities of the
Company.
The Company recognizes revenue for license fees from its software products upon delivery, provided that the fee is fixed and
determinable, acceptance has occurred, collectibility is probable and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Revenue from
third party software is derived from the licensing of third party software products in connection with sales of the Company’s software
licenses, and is generally recognized upon delivery together with the Company’s license revenue. Training, data conversion,
installation, and consulting services are generally recognized as revenue when the services are performed and collectibility is
probable. Revenue for maintenance and support service is recognized ratably over the term of the support agreement.
For arrangements containing multiple elements, revenue is recognized on delivered elements when vendor-specific objective
evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value has been established on the undelivered elements, applying the residual method of SOP 98-9. Fair
value is determined for each undelivered element based on the price charged for the sale of each element separately. In contracts that
contain first year maintenance bundled with software fees, unbundling of maintenance is based on the price charged for renewal
maintenance. Revenue for maintenance and support service is recognized ratably over the term of the support agreement.
Revenues related to hosting arrangements, including monthly fees as well as any initial registration fees and related custom
programming, are recognized ratably over the term of the agreement in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104
“Revenue Recognition”. Transaction fees are recognized as revenue as the transactions occur and revenue is earned. Revenue is only
recognized when collectiblity is probable.
Deferred revenue includes maintenance and support payments that have been received or billings recorded prior to performance
and, in certain cases, cash collections, amounts received under multi-element arrangements in which VSOE of undelivered elements
does not exist; and initial registration fees and related service fees under hosting agreements. Revenue is recognized when VSOE of
the undelivered elements is established, the elements are delivered, or the obligation to deliver the elements is extinguished.
Software arrangements involving significant customization, modification or production are accounted for in accordance with
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1,
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“Accounting for Performance on Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts,” using the percentage-of-completion
method. The Company recognizes revenue using actual hours worked as a percentage of total expected hours required by the
arrangement, provided that the fee is fixed and determinable, there is evidence of an arrangement and recovery of any related recorded
asset is considered probable.
For business process outsourcing agreements, which include call center services, services are primarily performed on a time and
materials basis. Revenue is recognized when the service is performed.
Cash and Cash Equivalents —The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months
or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Such investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.
Restricted Cash — At December 31, 2004, $3,000 was classified as restricted cash and was restricted from use in accordance
with the line of credit agreement as discussed in note 5.
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable —The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires our management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Specifically, the Company’s management must make estimates
of the collectability of our accounts receivable. Management specifically analyzes accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad
debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in our customer payment terms
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company’s accounts receivable balance was $3,256 and
$1,787, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $13 and $356 as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.
Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets —Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used
by any entity are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. If an indication of a potential impairment exists, recoverability of the respective assets are determined by
comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate, to the carrying amount, including
associated intangible assets, of such operation. If the operation is determined to be unable to recover the carrying amount of its assets,
then intangible assets are written down first, followed by the other long-lived assets of the operation, to fair value. Fair value is
determined based on discounted cash flows or appraised values, depending upon the nature of the assets. In determining the estimated
future cash flows, the Company considers current and projected future levels of income, as well as business trends, prospects and
market and economic conditions.
The carrying amount of the Company’s long-lived assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 primarily represented the original
amounts invested less the recorded depreciation and amortization. Based on the analysis performed by management, the Company
does not believe the carrying value of its long-lived assets were impaired as of December 31, 2004. There were no impairment charges
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 or 2002.
Internal Use Software —The Company accounts for software costs for internal use software under the provisions of SOP 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
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Internal Use.” Accordingly, certain costs to develop internal-use computer software are capitalized, provided these costs are expected
to be recoverable. There were no costs capitalized during 2004, 2003 or 2002.
Software Development Costs —The Company’s policy is to capitalize internally generated software development costs and
purchased software in compliance with Statement Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software To Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed.” Under SFAS No. 86, capitalization of software development costs
begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility of the product and continues through the point of general release of the
product. The ongoing assessment of the recoverability of these costs considers external factors, including, but not limited to,
anticipated future gross product revenues, estimated economic life and changes in software and hardware technology. During 2004,
2003 and 2002 the Company did not have any expenses eligible for capitalization under SFAS No. 86, given that costs incurred were
primarily related to maintenance or were due to the provision of support on previously released software products.
Property and Equipment —Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the expected life of the improvements or the remaining lease term. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and major improvements that extend the life of the asset are capitalized and amortized
over the expected life of the improvement. Gains and losses resulting from sales or retirements are recorded as incurred, at which time
related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. Fixed assets acquired in acquisitions are valued at fair
value. The estimated useful lives applied by the Company are as follows:
Asset Category

Life

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture, fixtures and other leasehold improvements
Buildings

5
3-5
7
30

Goodwill —In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which supercedes
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142 addresses how intangible assets acquired
individually or with a group of other assets (but not those acquired in a business combination) should be accounted for in financial
statements upon their acquisition. SFAS No. 142 also addresses how goodwill and other intangible assets should be accounted for
after they have been initially recognized in the financial statements. SFAS No. 142 is required to be applied at the beginning of the
entity’s fiscal year and to be applied to goodwill and other intangible assets recognized in its financial statements at that date. As of
January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, which eliminated the requirement to amortize goodwill. As of January 1, 2002,
the date of adoption, the Company had unamortized goodwill in the amount of approximately $123, which has been subjected to the
transition provisions, including the phase-in and annual impairment test, of SFAS No. 142 and will not be amortized going forward.
Goodwill increased $12,546 in 2004 as a result of the acquisition of LifeLink in February 2004 ($5,989) and Heart in July 2004
($6,557). Valuations of both LifeLink and Heart were
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performed during 2004. The Company will perform annual impairment assessments of the goodwill in accordance with SFAS
No. 142.
Intangible Assets —Amounts allocated to intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives
as follow:
Category

Life

Customer relationships
Developed technology
Trademarks

4-7
5
5

See notes 13 and 14 for further discussion of intangible assets.
Income Taxes —The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes pursuant to SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax consequences on future years of differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and their financial reporting amounts at
each year-end using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A valuation allowance is recorded for the portion
of the deferred tax assets that are not expected to be realized based on the levels of historical taxable income and projections for future
taxable income over the periods in which the temporary differences are deductible.
Earnings Per Share —Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is equal to net income divided by the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding for the period. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for 2004, 2003 and
2002 were 2,783,500, 2,293,580 and 2,290,866, respectively. Diluted EPS is calculated as if the Company had additional common
stock outstanding from the beginning of the year or the date of grant for all common stock equivalents, net of assumed repurchased
shares using the treasury stock method. Diluted EPS recognizes the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents and is equal to net
income divided by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding and common stock equivalents. During 2004, 2003
and 2002, the Company’s common stock equivalents consisted of stock options. During 2004, the effect of this calculation resulted in
an increase in the weighted average number of shares outstanding of 320,806. During 2003, the effect of this calculation resulted in an
increase in the weighted average number of shares outstanding of 55,776. During 2002, the effect of this calculation resulted in an
increase in the weighted average number of shares outstanding of 2,383. At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the fully diluted
weighted average number of shares outstanding was 3,104,306, 2,349,356 and 2,293,249, respectively. At December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, there were 368,366, 604,106 and 599,010 shares, respectively, potentially issuable with respect to outstanding stock options
and warrants, which could dilute Basic EPS in the future which were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation because their effect
was antidilutive.
Foreign Currency Translation —The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of the
country in which the subsidiary operates. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars at the rates of
exchange at the balance sheet dates. Income
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and expense accounts are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during the period. Gains and losses resulting from
translation adjustments are included in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. Foreign exchange
transaction gains and losses are recorded in foreign exchange gain (loss) as other comprehensive income (loss).
Use of Estimates —The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Segment Reporting —SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, established
reporting standards for companies operating in more than one business segment. Since the Company manages its business as a single
entity that provides software and related services to a single industry on a worldwide basis, the Company reports as a single segment.
The applicable enterprise-wide disclosures required by SFAS No. 131 are included in note 12.
Concentrations —The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash and temporary investments with high
quality financial institutions. Temporary investments are valued at the lower of cost or market and at the balance sheet dates
approximate fair market value. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC and its affiliates accounted for approximately
18%, 23% and 17%, respectively, of consolidated revenue. Accounts receivable relating to this customer at December 31, 2004,
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 were $718, $369 and $869, respectively (see note 2). In addition to BriT and its affiliates,
one international customer, AON, accounted for approximately 11% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Revenue from AON accounted for less than 10% of the consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2002, respectively.
The Company currently utilizes hardware, software and services that support its website from two third-party vendors under
operating service agreements. Although there is a limited number of website service companies, management believes that other
vendors could provide the Company with these website services. The terms of the current operating service agreements provide for
fixed and variable payments, which are based on revenues realized by the Company.
Employee Stock Options —At December 31, 2004, the Company has three stock-based employee compensation plans, which
are more fully described in note 10. The Company accounts for stock options issued to employees in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company has adopted the disclosure only provisions of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure—an Amendment to FASB Statement No. 123,” for options and warrants issued to employees. Under APB Opinion No. 25,
compensation expense is based on the difference, if any, on the measurement date, between the estimated fair value of the Company’s
stock and the exercise price of options to purchase that stock. Any resulting compensation expense is amortized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period of the options.

39

Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(All dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1—Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)
The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its employee stock-based compensation
plans. Had compensation cost for these stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair value method prescribed by
SFAS No. 123, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions summarized in Note 10, the Company’s net
income and net income per share would have been the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of related tax
effects
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair-value based
method for employee awards, net of related tax
effects
Pro forma net income (loss)
Basic earnings per share, as reported
Diluted earnings per share, as reported
Basic earnings (loss) per share, pro forma
Diluted earnings (loss) per share, pro forma

Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

$ 2,240

$ 1,669

$ 502

18

10

—

(822 )
$ 1,436
$ 0.80
$ 0.72
$ 0.52
$ 0.46

$
$
$
$
$

(916 )
763
0.73
0.71
0.33
0.32

$
$
$
$
$

(870 )
(368 )
0.22
0.22
(0.16 )
(0.16 )

Non-employee Stock Compensation —The Company accounts for stock based compensation issued to non-employees in
accordance with SFAS No. 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That
Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in conjunction with Selling Goods or Services.” SFAS No. 123 establishes a
fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. Under the fair value based method, compensation cost is
measured at the grant date based on the value of the award, which is calculated using an option pricing model, and is recognized over
the service period, which is usually the vesting period.
Advertising —Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $206, $150 and $120 in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments —The following disclosures of the estimated fair value of financial instruments were
made in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.” The estimated
fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using available market information and appropriate valuation
methodologies.
The Company believes the carrying amount of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses,
accrued payroll and related benefits, line of credit and letters of credit is a reasonable estimate of their fair value due to the short
maturity of these items.
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards —In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share—Based Payment” (“FAS 123R”), which revises and replaces
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SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Payment” and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” FAS 123R requires the measurement of all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock
options, using a fair-value based method and the recording of such expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
The pro-forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 will no longer be an alternative to financial statement
recognition. The provisions of FAS 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is
evaluating the requirements of FAS 123R, but because the Company is accounting for employee stock option grants in a footnote
disclosure as permitted by SFAS No. 123, the adoption of FAS 123R will have an impact on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations. See Note 1 for an illustration of the historical effects of expensing options.
In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position FAS No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FAS 109-2”). The American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 allows for a special one-time dividends received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer if
certain criteria are met. The provisions of FAS 109-2 were effective immediately upon issuance. The Company does not expect that
the adoption of FAS 109-2 will have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Note 2—BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC and another significant customer:
In 2001, the Company issued 868,000 shares of its common stock to BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC (“BRiT”) for $7,000. The
total number of shares of the Company’s common stock held by BRiT at December 31, 2004 was 930,163, representing an equity
ownership of 32 percent. In addition, as of December 31, 2004, CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, of which BRiT owns
approximately 70% of the equity interests as of such date, beneficially owned 7.6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock.
During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company entered into various software and service agreements with BRiT. Approximately
$3,551, $3,245 and $2,102 was recognized as revenue during 2004, 2003 and 2002 from BRiT and its affiliates, respectively. Total
accounts receivable from BRiT and its affiliates at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $718, $369 and $869, respectively.
During 2004, 2003 and 2002, approximately $1,856, $1,652 and $1,064, respectively, was recognized from another significant
customer, AON. Total accounts receivable from AON at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $186, $181 and $163, respectively.
Note 3—Stockholders’ Equity:
Warrants —In connection with a 1996 private equity placement, the Company issued a warrant to the placement agent (the
“Agent’s Warrant”) to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $40.00 per share. The Agent’s Warrant was not
subject to redemption and expired on April 19, 2002.
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Note 4—Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following:
Computer equipment and purchased software
Buildings
Land
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and other

2004

2003

$ 2,004
372
113
65
397

$ 1,692
345
108
13
266

2,951
(1,501 )

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

$ 1,450

2,424
(1,071 )
$ 1,353

Depreciation and amortization expense was $430, $333 and $276 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Note 5—Line of Credit:
Bank Line of Credit
In October 2002, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit, secured by a perfected first security interest in the
Company’s assets, for $1,000 with interest payable on outstanding borrowings at the prime rate. The prime rate at December 31, 2004
was 5.25%.
The existing revolving line of credit with LaSalle National Bank Association was increased to $5,000 during February 2004 and
the agreement was amended in April 2004. Major features of the line, as amended, include an interest rate stated at prime, security at
60% of the amount of the line in a restricted interest bearing account and timely financial reporting requirements. The line of credit
will expire on October 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2004 total borrowings on this line were $3,500, of which $3,000 is classified as
restricted cash and was restricted from use in accordance with the line of credit agreement. The agreement provides that the line was
secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets.
On February 23, 2005, the Company entered into a second amendment to the credit agreement which was effective as of
December 31, 2004 and added a requirement that the Company include in its quarterly deliveries to the bank an income statement of
the Company showing EBITDA (as defined in the agreement) of the Company, eliminated the covenant of the Company to maintain a
minimum tangible net worth (as defined in the agreement) and added a covenant that the Company maintain a maximum senior debt
to EBITDA ratio. The Company was in compliance with the maximum senior debt to EBITDA ratio covenant at December 31, 2004.
This amendment memorialized an understanding that had been reached with the lender prior to December 31, 2004. Giving effect to
the amendment as of December 31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.
Letters of Credit
Under terms of the agreement with Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd. (see note 14), $1,399 is payable by the Company under
stand-by letters of credit issued by the Company’s lender on the Company’s line of credit in three equal annual installments on each of
the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing of the Heart asset acquisition (present value computed as $1,293). The three
letters of credit expire on July 31, 2005, July 31, 2006 and July 31, 2007, respectively.
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Note 6—Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, consisted of the following:
2004

Trade accounts payable
Accrued professional fees
Accrued other liabilities

$

2003

730
146
905

$ 1,781

$

523
292
963

$ 1,778

Note 7—Income Taxes:
Income (loss) before income taxes consisted of:
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

Domestic
Foreign

$ 1,314
1,069

$

776
989

$ 67
522

Total

$ 2,383

$ 1,765

$ 589

Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

U.S. Federal
State
Foreign

$ 26
—
117

$ (241 )
—
337

$—
—
87

Total

$ 143

$

$ 87

The income tax provision consisted of:

96

The income tax provision at the Federal statutory rate differs from the effective rate because of the following items:
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Statutory rate
Change in valuation allowance
Effect of foreign tax rate other than 34%
Reversal of accrual for tax exposures
Other
Permanent differences
Effective rate

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

34.0 %
(14.2 )%
(14.5 )%
(3.2 )%
—
3.9 %

34.0 %
(18.2 )%
0%
(15.3 )%
1.7%
3.2 %

34.0 %
(11.7 )%
(15.3 )%
—
—
7.8 %

6.0 %

5.4 %

14.8 %
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Note 7—Income Taxes: (Continued)
Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of “temporary differences” between amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts as measured by tax laws. Temporary differences and carryforwards which give rise to a
significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
December 31, 2004
Deferred
Assets
Liabilities

Depreciation
Accruals
Capitalized software
Bad debts
NOL carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards

$

22,297
(22,153 )

Valuation allowance
Total deferred taxes

—
378
—
1
21,718
200

$

144

$ 144
—
—
—
—
—

December 31, 2003
Deferred
Assets
Liabilities

$

—
—
$ 144

—
322
—
116
22,214
298
22,950
(22,769 )

$

181

$ 142
—
39
—
—
—
181
—
$ 181

Due to the uncertainty of realizing any of the net deferred tax assets, the Company has provided a valuation allowance against the
entire net amount. In addition, in 2004 certain net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards expired. The impact of the valuation
allowance and the effective tax rate is shown net of the effect of expiring operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.
At December 31, 2004, the Company had available domestic net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $63,094, which
are available to offset future Federal income taxes, if any, through 2022, and investment business tax credit carryforwards of
approximately $200, which are available to offset future Federal income taxes, if any, through 2009. A change in ownership for
income tax purposes resulted from the issuance of common stock to BRiT. As a consequence, the utilization of tax credits and net
operating losses will be limited in the future. Based on yearly limitations and dependent on future earnings, approximately $46,000 of
the net operating loss carryforwards may not be utilized.
Note 8—Commitments and Contingencies:
Lease Commitments:
The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating leases with expiration dates ranging through 2010, with various
renewal options. Capital leases range from three to five years and are primarily for computer equipment. At December 31, 2003 assets
under capital leases totaled $500 and accumulated amortization was $307. There were no assets under capital lease at December 31,
2004.
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Note 8—Commitments and Contingencies: (Continued)
Commitments for minimum rentals under noncancellable leases as of December 31, 2004 were as follows:
Operating
Leases

Year

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

$

772
607
387
339
321
197

Total minimum lease commitments

$ 2,623

Rental expense for office facilities and certain equipment subject to operating leases for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $716, $602
and $634, respectively.
In 2002, sublease income of $388 was offset by sublease expenses of $380. There was no sublease income or expense in 2004 or
2003.
Contingencies:
The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.
Note 9—Cash Option Profit Sharing Plan and Trust:
Effective January 1, 1988, the Company adopted and implemented a 401(k) Cash Option Profit Sharing Plan, which allows
participants to contribute a percentage of their compensation to the Profit Sharing Plan and Trust up to the Federal maximum. The
Company’s contributions to the Plan were approximately $61 for 2004, $40 for 2003 and $42 for 2002.
Note 10—Stock Options:
The Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the granting of stock options and stock appreciation rights to
officers, directors and employees. The total number of shares reserved for grant under the Plan was 337,500 at December 31, 2000. An
amendment increasing the number of shares reserved for grant under the Plan by 250,000 was adopted by the Board of Directors and
approved by the Company’s stockholders on May 30, 2001. A third amendment increasing the number of shares reserved for grant
under the Plan by 250,000 was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by the Company’s stockholders on September 30,
2002. Accordingly, the total number of shares reserved for grant under the Plan was 837,500 at December 31, 2004. See note 16,
Subsequent Events, for a discussion of a January 2005 amendment to the Plan. Options granted under this Plan may be incentive stock
options as defined under current tax laws or nonstatutory options. Options are granted at prices determined by the Board of Directors
(not less than 100 percent of the market price of the stock at the time of grant for

45

Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(All dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Note 10—Stock Options: (Continued)
incentive stock options and 110 percent with respect to incentive stock options granted to optionees who own 10 percent or more of
the Company’s stock). Stock options under this plan generally become exercisable with respect to the underlying shares of Common
Stock as follows: 25 percent become exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining 75% of the options
become exercisable ratably each quarter over the next three years. All options must be exercised within ten years of the date of grant
(with respect to incentive stock optionees owning 10 percent or more of the Company’s stock, the term may be no longer than five
years). No stock appreciation rights have been issued under the Plan or are outstanding at December 31, 2004.
During 2001, the Company initiated the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2001 Plan”), which provides for the granting of stock
options to key employees or consultants. The total number of shares reserved under the 2001 Plan was 62,500. No options were
granted under the 2001 Plan and the 2001 Plan was terminated by the Board of Directors in 2004.
The Company’s 1998 Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”) provides for granting of options for up to 37,500 shares to nonemployee directors. Only nonstatutory options may be granted under the Directors Plan. Options are granted at prices not less than
100% of the market price of the stock at the time of grant. Stock options under this plan generally become exercisable over periods
ranging from three months to three years. All options must be exercised within ten years of the date of grant. During 2004, 2003 and
2002, the Company granted options to purchase a total of 6,000, 1,800 and 8,500 shares, respectively, under the Director Plan.
In May 2003, our Board of Directors determined that each board member would receive options to purchase 1,500 shares of
common stock each year. Each member of the Compensation Committee would receive additional options to purchase 150 shares of
common stock per year. Each Audit Committee member would receive additional options to purchase 375 shares of common stock per
year. In addition, each member of the Audit Committee, other than the Chairman, would receive cash compensation of $2 per year.
The Audit Committee Chairman would receive cash compensation of $5 per year. These options were granted immediately following
each annual meeting of stockholders at an exercise price per share of 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the
date of grant. These options become exercisable on the last day of each of the four calendar quarters beginning with the first calendar
quarter ending on or after the date of the grant. Each option has a term of ten years beginning on the date of grant. During 2003 the
Company granted options to purchase a total of 5,625 shares to board members under the program.
On January 14, 2005, the Company held the annual meeting of stockholders that had originally been scheduled for 2004.
Immediately following that annual meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director received options to purchase 1,500 shares of
Common Stock, including the options automatically awarded under the 1998 Director Option Plan, at an exercise price per share of
100% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of the grant. These options become exercisable on the last day
of each of the four calendar quarters beginning with the first calendar quarter ending on or after the date of the grant, and have a term
of ten years beginning on the date of grant. On March 21, 2005, each member of the Compensation Committee received additional
options to purchase 150 shares of common stock and each Audit Committee member received additional options to purchase 375
shares of
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Note 10—Stock Options: (Continued)
common stock at an exercise price per share of 100% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of the grant.
These options become exercisable on the last day of each of the four calendar quarters, beginning with the first calendar quarter
ending on or after the date of the grant, and have a term of ten years beginning on the date of grant. In addition, each member of the
Audit Committee, other than its Chairman, received cash compensation of $3 in 2004 prorated for each member’s actual time of
service. Mr. Drislane received $3 and Mr. Rich received $1 following the January 14, 2005 annual meeting. The Audit Committee
Chairman received cash compensation of $5 in 2004 prorated for the member’s actual time of service. Mr. Bhalla received $3 as
compensation for serving as Audit Committee Chairman immediately following the January 14, 2005 meeting. On March 24, 2004,
Mr. Chisholm a former member of the Audit Committee, received $3 as compensation as service as a member of the Audit Committee
(until his resignation on October 26, 2004).
In December 2004, our Board of Directors adopted a new compensation program for our non-employee directors, to commence
in 2005 (with the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders). Pursuant to this program, each non-employee director is to receive an annual
cash retainer of $14. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is to receive an additional annual fee of $5 and each other member of the
Audit Committee and each member of the Compensation Committee is to receive an additional annual fee of $3. Also, each nonemployee director is to receive an initial grant on his election to the Board of an option to purchase 1,500 shares vesting over three
years, and an annual grant thereafter of an option to purchase 1,500 shares, including the options automatically awarded under the
Director Plan. These options will be granted immediately following each annual meeting of stockholders at an exercise price per share
of 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. These options will become exercisable on the last
day of each of the four calendar quarters beginning with the first calendar quarter ending on or after the date of grant and will have a
term of ten years beginning on the date of grant.
During 2000, the Company granted incentive stock options to purchase a total of 1,250 shares for which vesting is contingent
upon increases in the Company’s stock price and other performance based measures, such as achieving specified revenues for new
products. During 1999, the Company granted incentive stock options to purchase a total of 58,250 shares, for which vesting is
contingent upon increases in the Company’s stock price and other performance based measures, such as achieving specified revenues
for new products. For these options, vesting generally occurs when the Company’s stock price equals $72.00, $96.00, $120.00 and
$160.00 per share. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, no incentive options were granted. The exercise price of each option, which has a
ten-year life, is equal to the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Compensation cost is measured and recorded
for these options using variable accounting as prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25 at the end of each quarterly reporting period and is
subsequently adjusted for increases or decreases in the Company’s stock price until the exercise date. There was no compensation
expense related to these options in 2004, 2003 or 2002.
On August 11, 2003, the Company granted options to purchase the Company’s common stock to an employee who is the brother
of the Chief Executive Officer, in connection with his joining the Company as an employee. The option grantee was an employee
when he received the grant. The options vest over four years from the date of grant, expire ten years from the date of grant, and were
issued with an exercise price below the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. This grant was not subject to any of the
Company’s stock option plans. The total intrinsic value associated with the granting of options was $96,
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Note 10—Stock Options: (Continued)
which will be recognized ratably as compensation expense over the four-year vesting period in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.
The Company recognized compensation expense of approximately $24 and $10 related to these options during the years ended
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.
The Company has granted nonstatutory and incentive options outside the Company’s stock option plans to purchase up to an
aggregate of 57,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, of which options to purchase 34,500 shares were outstanding at
December 31, 2004. These options were granted at prices determined by the Board of Directors. The options have a four-year vesting
period and must be exercised within ten years of the date of the grant. Included in these options are options to purchase 3,125 and
18,958 shares which the Company granted in 2002 and 2001, respectively, and options to purchase 9,917 shares granted prior to 2001,
to persons who were not directors, officers or employees.
These non-employee options were valued pursuant to SFAS No. 123. The majority of these options are performance-based
awards, with no service commitment and subject to vesting only if the Company’s stock price reaches a certain price. At
December 31, 2004, 8,291 of the shares subject to these non-employee options were vested. The Company has recognized
compensation expense of approximately $50, $40 and $1 related to these options during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Assumptions used in valuing the options are the same as those described below for employee options.
The per share weighted-average fair values of stock options granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $4.00, $4.95 and $5.18,
respectively, on the date of grant. Both the pro forma disclosures in note 1 and the weighted-average fair value of stock options on the
date of grant were calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Expected volatility
Expected dividends
Weighted average risk-free
interest rate
Expected life of stock options

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

88 %
None

146 %
None

175 %
None

4.00 %
10 years

4.17 %
10 years

4.14 %
10 years
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Note 10—Stock Options: (Continued)
Stock option activity during the last three years was as follows:
Within Plans
Nonstatutory Incentive
Options
Options

Options outstanding at December 31, 2001
Option activity:
Granted
Exercised
Canceled

292,574

Options outstanding at December 31, 2002
Option activity:
Granted
Exercised
Canceled

519,767

Options outstanding at December 31, 2003
Option activity:
Granted
Exercised
Canceled

570,101

Options outstanding at December 31, 2004

599,391

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Outside
Plan

Exercise
Price Ranges

28,875

6.50 - 77.00

21.04

3,125
—
(6,405 )

3.42 - 5.60

5.18

4.64 - 73.50

31.78

25,595

3.42 - 77.00

13.97

25,000
—
(16,095 )

2.85 - 5.55
3.42 - 6.50
3.42 - 74.00

4.95
5.78
19.40

55,281

34,500

2.85 - 77.00

11.56

—
—
—

—
—
—

12.64 - 15.76
4.64 - 8.96
5.55 - 54.00

15.54
5.96
18.59

55,281

34,500

2.85 - 77.00

11.85

55,281

248,665
—
(21,472 )

—
—
—
55,281

129,425
(25,624 )
(53,467 )

—
—
—

66,000
(15,773 )
(20,937 )

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2004:

Range of exercise prices

$ 2.85 - $ 4.64
5.35 - 6.50
8.96 - 13.55
15.76 - 28.00
40.00 - 44.51
53.24 - 57.00
73.50 - 77.00

Number
Outstanding

Options outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

53,275
470,884
22,756
70,738
21,906
41,762
7,851

8.15 yrs
7.38
7.24
8.39
3.44
4.59
4.86

$ 3.17
5.85
12.25
17.37
42.52
53.29
73.96

33,521
438,962
16,168
8,863
20,030
22,386
6,459

$ 3.32
5.88
11.84
26.39
42.68
53.33
74.06

689,172

Options exercisable

546,389
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Note 11— Sale of Unregistered Common Stock:
On January 16, 2004, the Company sold 222,223 shares of its previously unregistered common stock to CF Epic Insurance and
General Fund, an investment fund located in London, of which BRiT owns approximately 45% of the equity interests, for a total price
of $3,000, or $13.50 per share.
On February 23, 2004, the Company acquired LifeLink Corporation (“LifeLink”), and the operations of LifeLink have been
included in the Company’s financial statements since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of LifeLink from its shareholders in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $10,354, payable as
follows: $5,000 paid in cash at closing, $2,500 in a non-interest bearing note payable in cash in annual installments of $500 over five
years (present value computed as $2,226), and $3,000 payable in 200,000 shares of the common stock of the Company issued at the
time of closing to one of the LifeLink shareholders. The Company also capitalized approximately $128 of transaction costs in
conjunction with the LifeLink acquisition. In connection with the 200,000 shares of common stock issued to a former shareholder, that
person received from Ebix the option to sell his stock back to Ebix subject to specified time frames and prices.
On July 1, 2004, Ebix Australia Pty Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired certain of the operating
assets of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd (“Heart”), and the operations of Heart have been included in the Company’s financial
statements since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired the operating assets of Heart in exchange for an
aggregate purchase price of $7,116 payable as follows: $3,619 paid in cash at closing (subsequent to closing the former owner of
Heart paid $467 for deferred revenue and a vacation accrual settlement), $1,399 payable under stand-by letters of credit issued by the
Company’s lender on the Company’s line of credit in three equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third
anniversaries of the closing (present value computed as $1,293), and $2,098 payable in 157,728 shares of the common stock of the
Company issued at the time of closing. The Company also capitalized approximately $241 of transaction costs in conjunction with the
Heart acquisition. In connection with the 157,728 shares of common stock, the former owners received from Ebix the option to sell
their stock back to Ebix subject to specified time frames and prices.
Note 12—Geographic Information:
Management believes that the Company operates in one reportable segment, per SFAS No. 131 the following enterprise wide
information is provided. The following information relates to geographic locations:
Year ended December 31, 2004

Revenue
Fixed assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Net income (loss)

Domestic

Australia/
New Zealand

India

Singapore

Canada

Total

$ 13,385
$
526
$ 6,250
$ 3,027
$ 1,389

$ 5,176
$
99
$ 6,419
$ 1,207
$ 1,512

—
$ 794
—
—
$ (1,036 )

$ 1,260
$
30
—
—
$ 377

$ 162
$ 1
—
—
$ (2 )

$ 19,983
$ 1,450
$ 12,669
$ 4,234
$ 2,240
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Note 12—Geographic Information: (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2003

Revenue
Fixed assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Net income (loss)

Domestic

Australia/
New Zealand

India

Singapore

Canada

Total

$ 9,922
$ 438
$ 123
—
$ 1,016

$ 2,969
$
53
—
—
$ 967

$ 160
$ 832
—
—
$ (741 )

$ 1,187
$
29
—
—
$ 429

$ 195
$ 1
—
—
$ (2 )

$ 14,433
$ 1,353
$
123
—
$ 1,669

Domestic

Australia/
New Zealand

India

Singapore

Canada

Total

$ 9,449
$ 630
$ 123
—
$
61

$ 2,203
$
45
—
—
$ 546

—
$ 433
—
—
$ (222 )

$ 651
$ 22
—
—
$ 107

$ 348
$ 1
—
—
$ 10

$ 12,651
$ 1,131
$
123
—
$
502

Year ended December 31, 2002

Revenue
Fixed assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Net income (loss)
Note 13—LifeLink Acquisition-

On February 23, 2004, the Company acquired LifeLink Corporation (“LifeLink”), and the operations of LifeLink have been
included in the Company’s financial statements since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of LifeLink from its shareholders in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $10,354, payable as
follows: $5,000 paid in cash at closing, $2,500 in a non-interest bearing note payable in cash in annual installments of $500 over five
years (present value computed as $2,226), and $3,000 payable in 200,000 shares of the common stock of the Company issued at the
time of closing to one of the LifeLink shareholders. The Company also capitalized approximately $128 of transaction costs in
conjunction with the LifeLink acquisition. In connection with the 200,000 shares of common stock issued to a former shareholder, that
person received from Ebix the option to sell his stock back to Ebix subject to specified time frames and prices.
The Company has classified $2,700 of the value of the common stock issued as temporary equity, “redeemable common stock,”
in the consolidated balance sheet due to the existence of the holder’s embedded put option. At any time during the one month period
commencing on the date which is 18 months after February 23, 2004 and ending 19 months after February 23, 2004, the holder of the
redeemable common stock has a one-time right to require the Company to purchase all of the holder’s 200,000 shares originally issued
at a price of $2,700 minus the aggregate purchase price received by the holder from any sales of these shares of common stock prior to
the exercise of the put option. As of December 31, 2004, the holder had not sold any shares of common stock received from this
transaction.
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Note 13—LifeLink Acquisition- (Continued)
The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the LifeLink assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition.
Current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired
Current liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

$ 1,199
119
3,518
5,989
10,825
471
471
$ 10,354

Of the $3,518 of intangible assets acquired, $977 was assigned to developed technology with a remaining estimated useful life of
five years, $299 was assigned to trademarks with a remaining estimated useful life of five years and $2,242 was assigned to customer
relationships with a remaining estimated useful life of seven years. The Company recorded $491 of amortization expense related to
these intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Estimated Amortization Expenses:
For the year ending December 31, 2005
For the year ending December 31, 2006
For the year ending December 31, 2007
For the year ending December 31, 2008
For the year ending December 31, 2009
Thereafter

$ 575
$ 575
$ 575
$ 575
$ 358
$ 367

The acquisition of LifeLink fits with the Company’s overall focus on marketing software to insurance agents and brokers. This
acquisition increased sales and revenue of the consolidated total while providing significant sales opportunities for the Company’s
other existing services.
Note 14—Acquisition of Heart
On July 1, 2004, Ebix Australia Pty Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired certain of the operating
assets of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd (“Heart”), and the operations of Heart have been included in the Company’s financial
statements since that date. Under terms of the agreement, the Company acquired the operating assets of Heart in exchange for an
aggregate purchase price of $7,116 payable as follows: $3,619 paid in cash at closing (subsequent to closing the former owner of
Heart paid the Company $467 for deferred revenue and a vacation accrual settlement), $1,399 payable under stand-by letters of credit
issued by the Company’s lender on the Company’s line of credit in three equal annual installments on each of the first, second and
third anniversaries of the closing (present value computed as $1,293), and $2,098 payable in 157,728 shares of the common stock of
the Company issued at the time of closing. The Company also capitalized approximately $241 of transaction costs in conjunction with
the
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Note 14—Acquisition of Heart (Continued)
Heart acquisition. In connection with the 157,728 shares of common stock issued, the owners of Heart received from Ebix the option
to sell their stock back to Ebix subject to specified time frames and prices.
The Company has classified $1,562 of the value of the common stock issued as temporary equity, “redeemable common stock,”
in the condensed consolidated balance sheet due to the existence of the holder’s embedded put option. At any time during the one
month period commencing January 3, 2006 and ending February 3, 2006, the holder of the redeemable common stock has a one-time
right to require the Company to purchase all of the holder’s 157,728 shares originally issued at a price of $1,399 minus the aggregate
purchase price received by the holder from any sales of these shares of common stock prior to the exercise of the put option. As of
December 31, 2004, the holder had not sold any shares of common stock received from this transaction.
Concurrent with the acquisition, the Company engaged an independent valuation consultant to ascribe a preliminary value to each
of the assets and liabilities assumed from the acquisition of Heart. Upon final review of the acquisition, the purchase price was
reallocated. The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the Heart assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition subsequent to the reallocation.
Current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired
Current liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

$

467
43
1,229
5,945
7,684
467
467
$ 7,217

Of the $1,229 of intangible assets acquired, $630 was assigned to customer relationships with a remaining useful life of four
years, $410 was assigned to developed technology and $189 was assigned to trademarks with a remaining estimated useful lives of
five years. The Company recorded $154 of amortization expense related to these intangible assets for the year ended December 31,
2004.
Estimated Amortization Expenses:
For the year ended December 31, 2005
For the year ended December 31, 2006
For the year ended December 31, 2007
For the year ended December 31, 2008
For the year ended December 31, 2009

$ 307
$ 307
$ 307
$ 220
$ 66

The acquisition of Heart fits with the Company’s overall focus on marketing software to insurance agents and brokers. This
acquisition increased sales and revenue of the consolidated total while providing significant sales opportunities for the Company’s
other existing services.
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Note 15—Proforma Financials
The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003
presents the consolidated operations of the Company as if the LifeLink and Heart acquisitions had been made on January 1, 2003,
after giving effect to certain adjustments for the pro forma acquisition as of the acquisition date. The Company made adjustments
primarily for the amortization of intangible assets and interest expense related to the acquisitions. The unaudited pro forma financial
information is provided for informational purposes only and does not project the Company’s results of operations for any future
period:
Year Ended December 31,
2004
2003

Revenue
Net income

$ 22,086
2,492

$21,730
1,404

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

$
$

$
$

0.86
0.78

0.53
0.52

Note 16—Subsequent Events
On January 14, 2005, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment to the Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan
(the “1996 Plan”), which increased by 300,000, to 1,137,500, the number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved and
available for grant under the 1996 Plan and prohibited the repricing of options granted under the 1996 Plan.
On January 14, 2005, following the approval of the Company’s stockholders, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation was
amended to reduce the number of authorized shares of the Company’s common stock from 40,000,000 to 10,000,000 and the number
of authorized shares of the Company’s preferred stock from 2,000,000 to 500,000.

54

Item 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable.
Item 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In connection with its 2003 year-end audit, the Company’s independent certified public accountants at that time, KPMG LLP
(“KPMG”), identified details of reportable conditions relating to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. According to
KPMG, the communication of the reportable conditions was based on their professional judgment, taking into consideration audit
differences that required adjustment to the Company’s financial statements, as well as the underlying causes for such adjustments, and
KPMG’s observations about the Company’s internal control processes, but did not arise from any particular transaction or event. On
March 25, 2004, KPMG presented to the audit committee the details of the reportable conditions noted during the 2003 audit, which
included (1) delegation of authority and what KPMG considered to be inadequate reviews by a person other than the preparer of
accounting information, (2) the lack of a formalized contract review process to ensure proper revenue recognition, (3) the lack of a
complete understanding of the Company’s income tax positions and related accounts, (4) inadequate documentation for certain
unusual transactions (including the basis for the Company’s accounting conclusions), and (5) internal control matters (documented
and testable control environment) under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Section 404 (together with applicable regulations, “SOX 404”).
In response to KPMG’s identified issues, in the first and second quarters of 2004, the Company changed its reporting structure
within the financial accounting group and redistributed responsibilities among the financial accounting group to create improved
checks and balances. As a result of the reorganization, all members of the finance department, other than the Chief Financial Officer,
report to the corporate controller. Further, (a) the responsibility for a formalized contract review process to ensure proper revenue
recognition was re-assigned to a financial department director; (b) the Company established a process for the quarterly review of the
provision for income taxes by the Chief Financial Officer and corporate controller; and (c) the Chief Financial Officer and corporate
controller undertook responsibility for the analysis and documentation of any unusual transactions. During the third quarter of 2004,
the Company hired an additional senior staff professional for the financial accounting group, whose duties include SOX 404
documentation of internal control matters. His hiring strengthened the overall capabilities of the accounting group and allowed the
further reallocation of responsibilities, enabling the corporate controller to devote additional time to the Company’s consolidated tax
provision and accounting for income taxes.
In addition, to address further the deficiencies described above and to improve the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting for future periods, the Company plans to:
1.

Perform a review of internal controls and procedures in connection with satisfying the requirements of SOX 404, with the
assistance of an outside consulting firm to be retained by the Company;

2.

Perform more detailed quarterly reconciliations and analyses of the Company’s revenue accounts;

3.

Continue to enhance staffing to provide sufficient resources to accomplish the foregoing objectives, including through the
addition of a senior financial accountant in Australia.

During the 2004 year-end audit, the Company’s current independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP
identified certain significant deficiencies relating to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. A significant deficiency
is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the Company’s ability to initiate, authorize,
record, process, or report

55

external financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote
likelihood that a misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be
prevented or detected. This takes into consideration audit differences, both that required adjustments to the Company’s financial
statements and unrecorded adjustments, as well as underlying causes for such adjustments, and observations of the Company’s
processes, but did not arise from any particular transaction or event. The details of the significant deficiencies relates to the lack of
accounting knowledge and leadership at foreign locations, inadequate documentation for certain accounting transactions, insufficient
analysis and review of domestic account reconciliations, lack of documentation of development costs and related agreements, and the
lack of documentation to support the Company’s income tax provisions and related accounts. The Company will evaluate what steps it
needs to take to address these significant deficiencies.
The enhancements to internal control over financial reporting made in 2004 constitute, and the planned further improvements will
constitute, significant changes in internal control over financial reporting. There was not, however, any change in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The Company continues to evaluate the
effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, along with its disclosure controls and procedures, on an ongoing basis and
will take further action as appropriate.
The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in
the reports that it files with or submits to the Securities and Exchange Commission is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
accurately within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide such reasonable assurance. They reached this conclusion based in large part on their
assessment of (i) the financial expertise of the Chief Financial Officer and the members of the internal accounting staff, (ii) the regular
communications among such persons (serving as a de facto disclosure committee), and between them and the rest of the relatively
small organization, with respect to all material developments in the Company’s business, and (iii) the overall process of preparation
and review of the Company’s financial and other disclosure.
Item 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART III
Item 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The directors and executive officers of the Company are as follows:
ROBIN RAINA, 38, was elected as a director in February 2000. Mr. Raina joined the Company in October 1997 as the
Company’s Vice President—Professional Services and was promoted to Senior Vice President—Sales and Marketing in
February 1998. Mr. Raina was promoted to Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer in December 1998. Mr. Raina was
appointed President effective August 2, 1999, Chief Executive Officer effective September 23, 1999 and Chairman in May 2002. Prior
to joining us, from 1990 to 1997, Mr. Raina held senior management positions for Mindware/BPR, an international technology
consulting firm, serving in Asia and North America. While employed by Mindware/BPR, Mr. Raina was responsible for managing
projects for multinational corporations, including setting up offshore laboratories, building intranets, managing service bureaus and
support centers, providing custom programming, and year 2000 conversions. Mr. Raina holds an Industrial Engineering degree from
Thapar University in Punjab, India.
PAVAN BHALLA, 42, was appointed as a director in June 2004. Mr. Bhalla has served as Senior Vice President—Finance of
MCI Inc., a global telecommunications company, and presently oversees financial management of MCI’s domestic retail business
units. Before joining MCI in August 2003, Mr. Bhalla spent over seven years with BellSouth Corporation, a telecommunications
company, serving in a variety of executive positions, including Chief Financial Officer of BellSouth Long Distance Inc. from 1999 to
2002, Corporate Controller of BellSouth Cellular Corp. from 1997 to 1999, and Regional Director of Finance of BellSouth Cellular
Corp. from 1996 to 1997.
DENNIS DRISLANE, 55, was elected as a director in October 2000. Mr. Drislane is President of Cypress Point
Communications, which is his health care and technology consulting company. Mr. Drislane was a Senior Vice President of WebMD
(formerly Healtheon), an Internet healthcare company, from July 1997 to February 2001, when he left to start his own consulting
business. Prior to WebMD, Mr. Drislane spent 24 years with Electronic Data Systems (EDS), a computer services company, in a
number of senior executive positions.
PAUL JOSEPH HODGES, 45, was appointed as a director in July 2004. Mr. Hodges has served as a corporate broker for Collins
Stewart, a financial services company, specializing in the insurance, other financials and water sectors, since 2000. Prior to joining
Collins Stewart, Mr. Hodges spent three years as a founding member of Schroder Securities, a financial services company, working on
insurance archaeology projects and spent over 15 years working for stock brokerage firms as a composite insurance analyst.
HANS UELI KELLER, 53, was appointed as a director in July 2004. Mr. Keller most recently spent over 20 years with Zurichbased Credit Suisse, a global financial services company, serving as Executive Board Member from 1997 to 2000, Head of Retail
Banking from 1993 to 1996, and Head of Marketing from 1985 to 1992. He is presently also serving as Chairman of the Board of
Swisscontent Corp. AG, in addition to being a member of the board of directors of KdLabs AG.
KENNETH D. MERIN, 57, was appointed as a director in July 2004. Mr. Merin is an attorney at law with approximately
20 years of experience in the insurance business. He currently supervises the insurance regulatory practice at the law firm of Purcell,
Ries, Shannon, Mulcahy, and O’Neill, based in New Jersey, where he has practiced since 1996. He is also the President of the Charles
Hayden Foundation, a New York City-based non-profit organization dedicated to helping underprivileged children, a position he has
held since 2000. Mr. Merin has an extensive background in public policy matters affecting state and federal governments. From 1975
through 1980 he worked for the U.S. Congress in various capacities. Mr. Merin has also served in various capacities in New Jersey
state government, including as Commissioner of Insurance.
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WILLIAM W. G. RICH, 68, was elected as a director in November 2000. Since 1989, Mr. Rich has served as Chief Executive
Officer of Strategic Business Partners, Inc., which specializes in mergers, acquisitions and strategic alliances between financial
software developers and service providers, with a specialty in insurance and banking. Under a contract between Strategic Business
Partners and Sherwood International LLC, an insurance software and consulting firm, Mr. Rich served from 1996 to 2002 as
Sherwood’s Director of Marketing, Life and Annuities, North America. Since 2002, Mr. Rich has been active with Strategic Business
Partners in North America and Europe.
RICHARD J. BAUM, 66, has been Executive Vice President—Finance & Administration, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
since July 21, 1999, having joined the Company as Senior Controller in June 1999. Since 1988, he had been President of Consulting
Capabilities Corp., a general business consulting firm specializing in turnaround and crisis management. His prior executive level
posts include Chief Financial Officer of General American Equities (1983-1987), Vice President of American Invesco Corp (19791983), Chief Financial Officer of Norlin Music, Inc. (1977-1979), and Chief Financial Officer and member of the Board of Midas
International Corp. (1972-1977). He is a CPA and holds an MBA from the University of Chicago.
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMEBERSHIP
The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Bhalla, Drislane and Rich.
AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT
The Board of Directors has determined that Pavan Bhalla, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, meets the qualifications of an
“audit committee financial expert” pursuant to SEC rules. The Board has also determined that Mr. Bhalla qualifies as an “independent
director” in accordance with NASDAQ listing requirements and special standards established by the SEC for members of audit
committees. Stockholders should understand that the designation of an audit committee financial expert is a disclosure requirement of
the SEC related to Mr. Bhalla’s experience and understanding with respect to certain accounting and auditing matters. The designation
does not impose upon Mr. Bhalla any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than are generally imposed on him as a member of
the Audit Committee and the Board, and his designation as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this SEC requirement does
not affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the Audit Committee or the Board.
CODE OF ETHICS
The Company has adopted a “Code of Ethics” that applies to the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and any other
senior financial officers. This Code of Ethics is posted on the Company’s website at www.ebix.com , where it may be found by
clicking on Ebix Inc.’s Code of Ethics. The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Form 8-K regarding an
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Ethics by posting such information on the Company’s website, at the
address and location specified above.
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s officers and directors and persons who beneficially
own more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission reports of
securities ownership on Form 3 and changes in such ownership on Forms 4 and 5. Officers, directors and more than ten percent
beneficial owners also are required by rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission to furnish the Company with
copies of all such Section 16(a) reports that they file. Based solely upon a review of the copies of Forms 3, 4, and 5 furnished to the
Company and representations by certain executive officers and directors that no
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such reports were required for them, the Company believes that, during 2004, all of the Company’s directors, officers and more-thanten-percent beneficial owners filed all such reports on a timely basis, except that each of Messrs. Hodges and Keller filed a Form 3 on
October 29, 2004 to report his joining the Company as a director on July 13, 2004 and receipt of an option grant on that date,
Mr. Bhalla filed a Form 3 on October 19, 2004 to report his joining the Company as a director on June 1, 2004 and receipt of an option
grant on that date, Mr. Merin filed a Form 3 on October 29, 2004 to report his joining the Company as a director on July 28, 2004 and
receipt of an option grant on that date, and each of Messrs. Baum and Raina filed a Form 4 on June 15, 2004 to report an option grant
received on April 2, 2004.
Item 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The table below contains information regarding the annual and long-term compensation for the years ended December 31, 2004,
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other executive officer as of
December 31, 2004 (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”).
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation

Name and Principal Position

Year

Salary ($)

Robin Raina
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board
Richard J. Baum
Executive Vice President—Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary

2004
2003
2002
2004
2003
2002

$ 378,540
$ 350,000
$ 313,462
$ 216,739
$ 200,000
$ 197,692

(1)

Bonus ($)

$ 634,270 (2)
$ 624,310 (2)
$ 162,500
$ 238,150 (2)
$ 232,150 (3)
$ 100,000

Long Term
Compensation
Awards
Securities
Underlying
Options (#)

All Other
Compensation
($)(1)

50,000
110,000
125,000
10,000
12,000
31,250

$ 3,075
$ 2,105
$ 3,894
$ 3,075
$ 3,000
$ 2,965

Represents matching contributions pursuant to our 401(k) plan.

(2) On December 4, 2004 the Board of Directors of the Company, upon recommendation of the compensation committee approved
the 2004 incentive compensation program for the Company’s two Named Executive Officers. Pursuant to this program, each
Messrs. Raina and Baum is to receive (1) cash bonus compensation in the same percentage of base salary as the total bonus
compensation received by him for 2003 and (2) shares of restricted common stock of the Company having a grant date value
equal to 10% of the aggregate of the total salary and cash bonus compensation to be earned by him for 2004. The cash bonus is
comprised of a regular bonus and a supplemental bonus. The regular bonus is calculated at 50% of the officer’s annual base
salary and the supplemental bonus is $449,000 for Mr. Raina and $132,000 for Mr. Baum. The payment of cash bonuses and
issuance of restricted stock is subject to the determination by the Compensation Committee and the Board, after the Company’s
release of its 2004 operating results, that such operating results are substantially consistent with the operating results of the
Company for the first nine months of 2004, as they compare to those for the same period of the prior year (excluding incentive
compensation). The restricted stock awards will be made pursuant to the Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.
(3)

The 2003 bonuses include supplemental bonuses of $132,000 for Mr. Baum and $449,000 for Mr. Raina that were based upon
the achievement of operating cash flow goals
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Option Grants for the Year Ended December 31, 2004
The table below contains information regarding individual grants of options to purchase shares of Common Stock made during
the year ended December 31, 2004 to each of the Named Executive Officers. The Company did not award any stock appreciation
rights in 2004.
OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Options Granted
(#)

Name

Robin Raina(3)
Richard J. Baum(3)

50,000
10,000

Individual Grants
(1)
% of Total Options
Granted to
Employees in
Fiscal Year

75.7 %
15.2 %

Exercise
Price Per
Share ($/Sh)

Expiration
Date

$ 15.76
$ 15.76

4/2/14
4/2/14

Potential Realizable Value
at Assumed Annual Rates of
Stock Price Appreciation
For Option Term (2)
5% ($)
10% ($)

$ 495,569
$ 99,114

$ 1,255,869
$ 251,174

(1) All options were granted under our 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.
(2)

Potential realizable value is presented net of the option exercise price but before any federal or state income taxes associated with
exercise. These amounts represent certain assumed rates of appreciation prescribed by the SEC. Actual gains are dependent on
the future performance of the common stock and the option holders’ continued employment over the vesting period. The
potential realizable values do not reflect our prediction of the Company’s stock price performance. The amounts reflected in the
table may not be achieved.

(3)

The options become exercisable each year, in equal annual installments on the first four anniversaries of the grant date, unless
accelerated vesting criteria are met. Because the Company is reporting a pre-tax profit for the year ended December 31, 2004,
these options are vesting as to 50% of the remaining unvested shares on the date of filing of this Form 10-K. If the Company
reports a net profit of $2,000,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005, these options will vest as to all remaining unvested
shares on the date the profit is reported.

December 31, 2004 Option Values
The table below contains information regarding unexercised options to purchase Common Stock held by the Named Executive
Officers as of December 31, 2004. No stock options were exercised by the Named Executive Officers during 2004.
FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES
Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised
Options at Year-End(#)
Exercisable
Unexercisable

Name

Robin Raina
Richard J. Baum
(1)

365,392
98,250

89,609
77,035

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options at
Year-End($)(1)
Exercisable
Unexercisable

$ 3,044,903
$ 639,692

$ 254,106
$ 35,484

The value per option is calculated by subtracting the exercise price per share from the closing price of the Company’s Common
Stock on the NASDAQ Smallcap Market on December 31, 2004, which was $15.00.

Director Compensation
Under the Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (the “1998 Director Option Plan”), each non-employee director, upon
initial election or appointment to serve on the Board of Directors, receives a
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grant of an option to purchase 1,500 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price per share of 100% of the fair market value of a
share on the date of the grant. Of the 1,500 shares of Common Stock subject to such an option, the option becomes exercisable with
respect to (a) 500 shares on the day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the grant and (b) 125 shares on the last day of each of
the eight calendar quarters commencing on the last day of the calendar quarter ending on or after the first anniversary of the date of the
grant. Each option has a term of ten years beginning on the date of the grant. Upon appointment in 2005 to our Board of Directors,
each of Messrs. Bhalla, Hodges, Keller and Merin was granted an option to purchase 1,500 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the
1998 Director Option Plan.
In addition, the 1998 Director Option Plan provides for each non-employee director, immediately following each annual meeting
of our stockholders, to be granted an option to purchase 450 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price per share of 100% of the
fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of the grant. Of the 450 shares of Common Stock subject to each such
option, the option becomes exercisable with respect to 112.5 shares on the last day of each of the four calendar quarters beginning
with the calendar quarter ending on or after the date of the grant. Each option has a term of ten years beginning on the date of grant.
On January 14, 2005 the Company held the annual meeting of stockholders that had originally been scheduled for 2004.
Immediately following the Company’s 2004 annual meeting of stockholders each non-employee director received options to purchase
1,500 shares of Common Stock, including the options automatically awarded under the 1998 Director Option Plan at an exercise price
per share of 100% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of the grant. These options become exercisable on
the last day of each of the four calendar quarters, beginning with the first calendar quarter ending on or after the date of the grant, and
have a term of ten years beginning on the date of grant. On March 21, 2005 each member of the Compensation Committee received
additional options to purchase 150 shares of common stock and each Audit Committee member received additional options to
purchase 375 shares of common stock at an exercise price per share of 100% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on
the date of the grant. These options become exercisable on the last day of each of the four calendar quarters, beginning with the first
calendar quarter ending on or after the date of the grant, and have a term of ten years beginning on the date of grant. In addition, each
member of the Audit Committee, other than its Chairman, received cash compensation of $2,500 in 2004 prorated for each member’s
actual time of service. Mr. Drislane received $2,500 and Mr. Rich received $625 following the January 14, 2005 meeting. The Audit
Committee Chairman received cash compensation of $5,000 in 2004 prorated for the member’s actual time of service. Mr. Bhalla
received $2,917 as compensation for serving as Audit Committee Chairman immediately following the Janauary 14, 2005 meeting. On
March 24, 2004 Mr. Chisholm, a former member of the Audit Committee, received $3 as compensation as service as a member of the
Audit Committee until his resignation on October 26, 2004.
In December 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a new compensation program for the Company’s non-employee
directors, to commence in 2005 (with the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders). Pursuant to this program, each non-employee
director is to receive an annual cash retainer of $14,000. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is to receive an additional annual fee
of $5,000 and each other member of the Audit Committee and each member of the Compensation Committee is to receive an
additional annual fee of $2,500. Also, each non-employee director is to receive an initial grant on his election to the Board of an
option to purchase 1,500 shares, vesting over three years, and an annual grant thereafter of an option to purchase 1,500 shares,
including the options automatically awarded under the 1998 Director Option Plan. These options will be granted immediately
following each annual meeting of stockholders at an exercise price per share of 100% of the fair market value of a share of common
stock on the date of grant. These options will become exercisable on the last day of each of the four calendar quarters beginning with
the first calendar quarter ending on or after the date of the grant and will have a term of ten years beginning on the date of the grant.

61

Employment and Severance Agreements
We entered into an Executive Severance Agreement with Mr. Baum, dated October 4, 2000, which provides for a severance
payment if a change of control of the Company occurs and, within 12 months thereafter, either Mr. Baum’s employment is terminated
without cause or he resigns due to a demotion or other new and onerous requirements being placed on him. Under the Agreement, the
severance payment is equal to one year’s salary (based on the highest monthly salary earned by Mr. Baum during the 12 months
preceding his termination) plus a bonus equal to the fraction of the calendar year worked up to the termination, multiplied by the
bonus paid to him in the prior calendar year. Under certain circumstances, the Agreement also provides medical insurance subsidies
for a period of 12 months and indemnification. Under the Agreement, Mr. Baum agrees to hold our proprietary information
confidential and, for a period of 12 months following his termination, cooperate with us with respect to corporate administrative
affairs arising during his employment. If his termination results in payment of the Agreement’s severance benefits, Mr. Baum will be
subject to a non-competition agreement for a period of one year following his termination. When used in the foregoing summary, the
terms “cause” and “change of control” have the meanings given to them in the Agreement.
Item 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth, as of March 28, 2005, the ownership of our Common Stock by each of the Company’s directors,
by each of our Named Executive Officers (as defined above), by all of our current executive officers and directors as a group, and by
all persons known to the Company to be beneficial owners of more than five percent of the Company’s Common Stock. The
information set forth in the table as to the current directors, executive officers and principal stockholders is based, except as otherwise
indicated, upon information provided to us by such persons. Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole investment and voting
power with respect to the shares shown below as beneficially owned by such person.
Common Stock
Percent
Ownership
of Class

Name of Beneficial Owner

BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC(1)
Rennes Foundation(2)
CF Epic Insurance and General Fund(3)
Craig Wm. Earnshaw(4)
Heart Consulting Services Pty. Ltd.(5)
Robin Raina(6)
Richard J. Baum(7)
Dennis Drislane(7)
William W. G. Rich(7)
Pavan Bhalla(7)
Paul Hodges(7)
Hans Ueli Keller(7)
Kenneth D. Merin(7)
All directors and executive officers as a group (8 persons)(8)

930,163
347,723
222,223
200,000
157,728
390,983
81,262
6,425
5,788
470
376
414
414
486,132

32.0 %
11.9 %
7.6 %
6.9 %
5.4 %
11.8 %
2.8 %
*
*
*
*
*
*
14.3 %

*

Less than 1%.

(1)

The address of BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC is 55 Bishopsgate, London, EC2N 3AS, United Kingdom. The address and
information set forth in the table as to this stockholder are based on a
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Schedule 13D/A filed by this stockholder on October 21, 2002. As of December 31, 2004, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC owned
approximately 70% of the equity interests of CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, but did not have voting or dispositive control
over the shares of the Company’s Common Stock owned by CF Epic Insurance and General Fund.
(2)

The address of the Rennes Foundation is Aeulestrasse 38, FL 9490 Vaduz, Principality of Liechtenstein. The address and
information set forth in the table as to this stockholder are based on a questionnaire completed by this stockholder on
February 28, 2005.

(3)

The address of CF Epic Insurance and General Fund is c/o Simon Shaw, Investment Manager, 55 Bishopsgate, London, EC2N
3AS, United Kingdom.

(4)

These shares are subject to a repurchase commitment by the Company pursuant to which Earnshaw may require us to repurchase
such shares for an aggregate purchase price of $2,700,000 minus any proceeds received by him from earlier sales of any portion
of such shares. The address of Craig Wm. Earnshaw is 1301 Little Kate Road, Park City, Utah, 84060.

(5)

These shares are subject to a repurchase commitment by the Company pursuant to which Heart Consulting Pty. Ltd. may require
us to repurchase such shares at any time during January 2006 for an aggregate purchase price of A$2,000,000 ($1,399,000 USD)
minus any proceeds received by Heart Consulting Pty. Ltd. from earlier sales of any portion of such shares. The address of Heart
is C/-PPF Partners, Level 2, 52 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria Australia 3000.

(6) Includes 390,548 shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by exercising outstanding options within 60 days after
March 28, 2005. The address of Mr. Raina is 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 3200, Atlanta, Georgia 30328.
(7)

Represents shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by exercising outstanding options within 60 days after March 28,
2005.

(8) Includes 485,697 shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by exercising outstanding options within 60 days after
March 28, 2005.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
As of December 31, 2004, the Company maintained the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan and the 1998 Non-Employee Directors Stock
Option Plan, each of which was approved by the Company’s stockholders. We also maintained the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, which
was not approved by our stockholders and was terminated by our Board of Directors during 2004. The table below provides
information as of December 31, 2004 related to these plans.

Plan Category

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders
Equity Compensation Plans not Approved by
Security Holders
Total
Item 13.

Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Options
Warrants and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options
Warrants and
Rights

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation Plans

689,172

$ 11.85

111,386

—
689,172

—
$ 11.85

—
111,386

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

As of December 13, 2004, BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC (“BRiT”) held 930,163 shares of the Company’s Common Stock,
representing approximately 32 percent of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock. During 2003, approximately $3,245,000 was
recognized as services revenue from BRiT and
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its affiliates related to call center and development projects. During 2004, approximately $3,550,000 was recognized as services
revenue from BRiT and its affiliates. Total accounts receivable from BRiT and its affiliates at December 31, 2004 were $718,000. We
continue to provide services for BRiT and its affiliates and to receive payments for such services. We currently expect that the
Company’s total 2005 revenue from BRiT will be equal to or greater than that recognized in 2004, although there can be no assurance
to that effect. In addition, as of December 31, 2004, CF Epic Insurance and General Fund, of which BRiT owned approximately 70%
of the equity interests as of such date, beneficially owned 7.6% of our outstanding Common Stock.
During 2003, we hired Rahul Raina, the brother of Robin Raina, as the Director of Business Process Outsourcing for the Delphi
Consulting Division of our company. He is paid an annual salary of $90,000, and on August 11, 2003, after becoming an employee of
our company, we granted options to Mr. Raina to purchase 25,000 shares of our Common Stock. The options vest over four years
from the date of grant, expire ten years from the date of grant, and were issued with an exercise price below the fair market value of
the stock on the date of grant. This grant was not subject to any of the Company’s stock incentive plans. The total intrinsic value
associated with the granting of options was $96,250, which will be recognized ratably as compensation expense over the four-year
vesting period in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. The Company recognized compensation expense of approximately $24,000
and $10,000 related to these options during the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. Mr. Raina’s
annual salary was increased to $120,000 effective January 1, 2005.
Item 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table presents fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s annual financial
statements for 2004 and 2003 and fees billed for other services rendered during 2004 and 2003 by KPMG LLP, the Company’s
independent auditors through June 30, 2004 and BDO Seidman LLP, the Company’s independent auditors since July 1, 2004 (in each
case, during the of time services the Company’s independent auditors).
Audit Fees(1)
Audit Related Fees(2)
Tax Fees(3)
All Other Fees

2004

2003

$ 214,000
$ 67,500
$ 122,000
$
0

$ 290,000
$ 10,000
$ 37,000
$
0

(1) Including fees for the audit of our annual financial statements included in our Form 10-K and reviews of the financial statements
in our Forms 10-Q, but excluding audit-related fees.
(2) Including benefit plan and assistance with SEC and NASDAQ matters.
(3) Includes the preparation of our federal income tax return for 2003 and the preparation of our federal income tax and tax structure
evaluation for 2004.
The Audit Committee considered and pre-approved all of the above-referenced fees and services. Pursuant to a policy adopted by
our Board of Directors, the Audit Committee requires advance approval of all audit services and permitted non-audit services to be
provided by the independent auditors as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The Company has agreed to indemnify and hold KPMG LLP (KPMG) harmless against and from any and all legal costs and
expenses incurred by KPMG in successful defense of any legal action or proceeding that arises as a result of KPMG’s consent to the
inclusion of its audit report on the Company’s past financial statements in this annual report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV
Item 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements.
The following consolidated financial statements and supplementary data of the Company and its subsidiaries, required by Part II,
Item 8 are filed herewith:
•

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms

•

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003

•

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002.

•

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2004,
December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002.

•

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002.

•

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

Financial Statement Schedules.

The following consolidated financial statement schedule is filed herewith:
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and December 31,
2002.
Schedules other than those listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included
in the financial statements or notes thereto.
3.

Exhibits—1

The exhibits filed herewith or incorporated by reference are listed on the Exhibit Index attached hereto.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Ebix, Inc.
(Registrant)
By:

/s/ ROBIN RAINA
Robin Raina
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 30, 2005
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ ROBIN RAINA
(Robin Raina)

/s/ RICHARD J. BAUM
(Richard J. Baum)

Title

Chairman of the Board, President, and
Chief Executive Officer (principal executive
officer)
Executive Vice President-Finance and
Administration, Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer), and
Secretary

Date

March 30, 2005

March 30, 2005

/s/ PAVAN BHALLA
(Pavan Bhalla)

Director

March 30, 2005

/s/ DENNIS DRISLANE
(Dennis Drislane)

Director

March 30, 2005

/s/ PAUL HODGES
(Paul Hodges)

Director

March 30, 2005

/s/ HANS UELI KELLER
(Han Ueli Keller)

Director

March 30, 2005

/s/ KENNETH D. MERIN
(Kenneth D. Merin)

Director

March 30, 2005

/s/ WILLIAM W. RICH
(William W. Rich)

Director

March 30, 2005
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibits

2.1

Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 23, 2004 by and among the Company and the shareholders of LifeLink
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report of Form 8-K dated February 23,
2004 (the “February 2004 8-K”)) and incorporated herein by reference.

2.2

Secured Promissory Note, dated February 23, 2004, issued by the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of
the February 2004 8-K and incorporated herein by reference).

2.3

Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2004, by and between Heart Consulting Pty Ltd. And Ebix Australia Pty Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report of Form 8-K dated July 14, 2004 (the
“July 14, 2004 8-K”)) and incorporated herein by reference.

2.4

Agreement, dated July 1, 2004, by and between Heart Consulting Pty Ltd. and Ebix, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report of Form 8-K dated July 14, 2004 (the “July 14, 2004 8-K”)) and
incorporated herein by reference.

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended (including Certificates of Designations).

3.2

Bylaws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. 1983 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-45153) and incorporated herein by reference). +

10.2

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. Cash Option Profit Sharing Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-19310) and incorporated herein by reference). +

10.3

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. 1989 Stock Purchase Plan (included in the prospectus filed as part of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-35952) and incorporated herein by reference). +

10.4

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan for Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1992 and incorporated herein by reference). +

10.5

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-23261) and incorporated herein by reference). +

10.6

Lease agreement effective October, 1998 between the Company and 485 Properties LLC relating to premises at Five
Concourse Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Transition Report on Form 10-K for the
transition period from April 1, 1998 to December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. 1998 Non-Employee Director’s Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit A to the
Company’s proxy statement dated August 12, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference). +
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10.8

Delphi Information Systems, Inc. 1999 Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9

Severance agreement, between the Company and Richard J. Baum, dated as of October 4, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference). +

10.10

Sublease agreement dated October 11, 2000, between the Company and Eric Swallow and Deborah Swallow, relating to
the premises at 2055 N. Broadway, Walnut Creek, CA. (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11

First amendment to lease agreement dated June 26, 2001, between the Company and PWC Associates, relating to
premises of Building Two of the Parkway Center, Pittsburgh, PA. (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.12

Lease agreement dated November 6, 2001, between the Company and Great Lakes REIT, L.P., relating to premises at
1900 E. Golf Road, Suite 1050, Schaumburg, Illinois. (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13

2001 Stock Incentive Plan for Employees (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form S-8 filed on April 19, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference). +

10.14

Share Exchange and Purchase Agreement between the Company and BRiT Insurance Holdings PLC (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.15

Registration Rights Agreement between the Company and BRiT Holdings Limited (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16

Share Purchase Agreement dated January 16, 2004, by and between Ebix, Inc. and CF Epic Insurance and General Fund
(filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s S-3 (No. 333-112616), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.17

Second Amendment to the Lease Agreement dated June 3, 2003 between the Company and 485 Properties, LLC relating
to the premises at Five Concourse Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.18*

Ebix, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan as amended by the first, second, third and fourth amendments thereto.

10.19

Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit from LaSalle Bank, National Association, Amended and Restated Loan
and Security Agreement and Pledge Agreement dated April 21, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.20*

First Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 1, 2004, between Ebix, Inc. and LaSalle National
Bank.

10.21

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement between Ebix, Inc. and the Company, effective as of December 31,
2004, between Ebix, Inc. and LaSalle National Bank. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 23, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.22*

Lease agreement dated January 1, 2002, between LifeLink Building LLC and LifeLink Corporation (which was acquired
by Ebix, Inc. in February 2004), relating to the premises at The LifeLink Building located at 1918 Prospector Drive, Park
City, UT 84060.

10.23*

Compensation Arrangement for the Company’s Executive Officers and Directors filed herein. +

21.1*

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1*

Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP.

23.2*

Consent of KPMG LLP.

31.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

31.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*

Filed herewith

+

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be included as an exhibit to this annual report on
Form 10-K.
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Schedule II
Ebix, Inc.
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
for the Years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

Beginning balance
Provision for doubtful accounts
Write-off of accounts receivable against allowance

$ 356,235
108,409
(452,109 )

$ 633,699
14,121
(291,585 )

$ 985,426
508,840
(860,567 )

Ending balance

$

$ 356,235

$ 633,699

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

Year Ended
December 31, 2002

12,535

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Beginning balance
Decrease (increase)

$ (22,769 )
616

$ (23,918 )
1,149

$ (23,913 )
(5 )

Ending balance

$ (22,153 )

$ (22,769 )

$ (23,918 )
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1996 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED
1. Purpose . The purpose of this Plan is to attract and retain directors, officers and other key employees of and consultants to
Ebix, Inc. (the “Corporation”) and its Subsidiaries and to provide such persons with incentives and rewards for superior performance.
2.

Definitions . (a) As used in this Plan:

“Appreciation Right” means a right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan, including a Free-Standing Appreciation Right and
a Tandem Appreciation Right.
“Base Price” means the price to be used as the basis for determining the Spread upon the exercise of a Free-Standing
Appreciation Right.
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
“Committee” means a committee of not less than two “Non-Employee Directors” (as defined in Rule 16b-3(b)(3)(i) under
Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act) appointed by and serving at the pleasure of the Board.
“Common Shares” means (i) shares of the Common Stock, par value $.10 per share, of the Corporation and (ii) any security into
which Common Shares may be converted by reason of any transaction or event of the type referred to in Section 10 of this Plan.
“Date of Grant” means the date specified by the Board on which a grant of Option Rights, Appreciation Rights or Performance
Shares or Performance Units or a grant or sale of Restricted Shares or Deferred Shares shall become effective, which shall not be
earlier than the date on which the Board takes action with respect thereto.
“Deferral Period” means the period of time during which Deferred Shares are subject to deferral limitations under Section 7 of
this Plan.
“Deferred Shares” means an award pursuant to Section 7 of this Plan of the right to receive Common Shares at the end of a
specified Deferral Period.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.
“Free-Standing Appreciation Right” means an Appreciation Right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that is not granted
in tandem with an Option Right or similar right.
“Incentive Stock Option” means an Option Right that is intended to qualify as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of
the Code or any successor provision thereto.
“Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary with respect to which the Corporation directly or indirectly owns or
controls less than 80 percent of the total combined voting or other decision-making power.
“Management Objectives” means the achievement or performance objectives established pursuant to this Plan for Participants
who have received grants of Performance Shares or Performance Units or, when so determined by the Board, Restricted Shares.
“Market Value per Share” means the fair market value of the Common Shares as determined by the Board from time to time.
“Nonqualified Option” means an Option Right that is not intended to qualify as a Tax-Qualified Option.

“Optionee” means the person so designated in an agreement evidencing an outstanding Option Right.
“Option Price” means the purchase price payable upon the exercise of an Option Right.
“Option Right” means the right to purchase Common Shares from the Corporation upon the exercise of a Nonqualified Option or
a Tax-Qualified Option granted pursuant to Section 4, or a Replacement Option Right granted pursuant to Section 17(c), of this Plan.
“Participant” means a person who is selected by the Board to receive benefits under this Plan and (i) is at that time a director or
an officer (including officers who are also directors) or other key employee of or a consultant to the Corporation or any Subsidiary or
(ii) has agreed to commence serving in any such capacity.
“Performance Period” means, in respect of a Performance Share or Performance Unit, a period of time established pursuant to
Section 8 of this Plan within which the Management Objectives relating thereto are to be achieved.
“Performance Share” means a bookkeeping entry that records the equivalent of one Common Share awarded pursuant to
Section 8 of this Plan.
“Performance Unit” means a bookkeeping entry that records a unit equivalent to $1.00 awarded pursuant to Section of this Plan.
“Replacement Option Right” means as Option Right granted pursuant to Section 17(c) of this Plan in exchange for the surrender
and cancellation of an option to purchase shares of another corporation that is acquired by the Corporation or a Subsidiary by merger
or otherwise.
“Restricted Shares” means Common Shares granted or sold pursuant to Section 6 of this Plan as to which neither the substantial
risk of forfeiture nor the restrictions on transfer referred to in Section 6 hereof has expired.
“Spread” means, in the case of a Free-Standing Appreciation Right, the amount by which the Market Value per Share on the
date when the Appreciation Right is exercised exceeds the Base Price specified therein or, in the case of a Tandem Appreciation
Right, the amount by which the Market Value per Share on the date when the Appreciation Right is exercised exceeds the Option
Price specified in the related Option Right.
“Subsidiary” means a corporation, partnership, joint venture, unincorporated association or other entity in which the Corporation
has a direct or indirect ownership or other equity interest; provided, however, for purposes of determining whether any person may be
a Participant for purposes of any grant of Incentive Stock Options, “Subsidiary” means any corporation in which the Corporation owns
or controls directly or indirectly more than 50 percent of the total combined voting power represented by all classes of stock issued by
such corporation at the time of the grant.
“Tandem Appreciation Right” means an Appreciation Right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that is granted in tandem
with an Option Right or any similar right granted under any other plan of the Corporation.
“Tax-Qualified Option” means an Option Right that is intended to qualify under particular provisions of the Code, including but
not limited to an Incentive Stock Option.
3. Shares and Performance Units Available under the Plan . (a) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10 of this Plan,
the aggregate number of Common Shares covered by outstanding awards, except Replacement Option Rights, granted under this Plan
and issued or transferred upon the exercise or payment thereof, and the aggregate number of Performance Units granted under this
Plan, shall not

exceed 1,137,500. Common Shares issued or transferred under this Plan may be Common Shares of original issuance or Common
Shares held in treasury or a combination thereof.
(b) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10 of this Plan, the aggregate number of Common Shares covered by
Replacement Option Rights granted under this Plan during any calendar year shall not exceed five percent of the Common Shares
outstanding on January 1 of that year.
(c) For the purposes of this Section 3:
(i) Upon payment in cash of the benefit provided by any award granted under this Plan, any Common Shares that were
covered by that award shall again be available for issuance or transfer hereunder.
(ii) Common Shares covered by any award granted under this Plan shall be deemed to have been issued or transferred,
and shall cease to be available for future issuance or transfer in respect of any other award granted hereunder, at the earlier of
the time when they are actually issued or transferred or the time when dividends or dividend equivalents are paid thereon;
provided, however, that Restricted Shares shall be deemed to have been issued or transferred at the earlier of the time when
they cease to be subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or the time when dividends are paid thereon.
(iii) Performance Units that are granted under this Plan, but are not earned by the Participant at the end of the
Performance Period, shall be available for future grants of Performance Units hereunder.
(d) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10 of this Plan, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that
may be covered by Option Rights, Appreciation Rights, Restricted Shares, Deferred Shares and Performance Shares, in the
aggregate, granted to any one Participant during any calendar year shall be 125,000 shares.
4. Option Rights . The Board may from time to time authorize grants to Participants of Option Rights upon such terms and
conditions as the Board may determine in accordance with the following provisions:
(a) Each grant shall specify the number of Common Shares to which it pertains.
(b) Each grant shall specify an Option Price per Common Share, which shall be equal to or greater than the Market Value
per Share on the Date of Grant; provided, however, that the Option Price per Common Share of a Replacement Option Right may
be less that the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant.
(c) Each grant shall specify the form of consideration to be paid in satisfaction of the Option Price and the manner of
payment of such consideration, which may include (i) cash in the form of currency or check or other cash equivalent acceptable to
the Corporation, (ii) nonforfeitable, unrestricted Common Shares that are already owned by the optionee and have a value at the
time of exercise that is equal to the Option Price, (iii) any other legal consideration that the Board may deem appropriate,
including but not limited to any form of consideration authorized under Section (d) below, on such basis as the Board may
determine in accordance with this Plan and (iv) any combination of the foregoing.
(d) On or after the Date of Grant of any Nonqualified Option, the Board may determine that payment of the Option Price
may also be made in whole or in part in the form of Restricted Shares or other Shares that are subject to risk of forfeiture or
restrictions on transfer. Unless otherwise determined by the Board on or after the Date of Grant, whenever any Option Price is
paid in whole or in part by means of any of the forms of consideration specified in this

Section 4(d), the Common Shares received by the Optionee upon the exercise of the Nonqualified Option shall be subject to the
same risks of forfeiture or restrictions on transfer as those that applied to the consideration surrendered by the optionee; provided,
however, that such risks of forfeiture and restrictions on transfer shall apply only to the same number of Common Shares received
by the optionee as applied to the forfeitable or restricted Common Shares surrendered by the Optionee.
(e) Any grant may provide for deferred payment of the Option Price from the proceeds of sale through a broker on the date
of exercise of some or all of the Common Shares to which the exercise relates.
(f) Successive grants may be made to the same Participant regardless of whether any Option Rights previously granted to
the Participant remain unexercised.
(g) Each grant may specify a period or periods of continuous employment of the Optionee by the Corporation or any
Subsidiary that are necessary before the Option Rights or installments thereof shall become exercisable, and any grant may
provide for the earlier exercise of the Option Rights in the event of a change in control of the Corporation or other similar
transaction or event.
(h) Option Rights granted pursuant to this Section 4 may be Nonqualified Options or Tax-Qualified Options or
combinations thereof.
(i) On or after the Date of Grant of any Nonqualified Option, the Board may provide for the payment to the Optionee of
dividend equivalents thereon in cash or Common Shares on a current, deferred or contingent basis, or the Board may provide that
any dividend equivalents shall be credited against the Option Price.
(j)

No Option Right granted pursuant to this Section 4 may be exercised more than 10 years from the Date of Grant.

(k) Each grant shall be evidenced by an agreement, which shall be executed on behalf of the Corporation by an officer
thereof and delivered to and accepted by the Optionee and shall contain such terms and provisions as the Board may determine
consistent with this Plan.
5. Appreciation Rights . The Board may also authorize grants to Participants of Appreciation Rights. An Appreciation Right
shall be a right of the Participant to receive from the Corporation an amount, which shall be determined by the Board and shall be
expressed as a percentage (not exceeding 100 percent) of the Spread at the time of the exercise of an Appreciation Right. Any grant of
Appreciation Rights under this Plan shall be upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine in accordance with the
following provisions:
(a) Any grant may specify that the amount payable upon the exercise of an Appreciation Right may be paid by the
Corporation in cash, Common Shares or any combination thereof and may (i) either grant to the Participant or reserve to the
Board the right to elect among those alternatives or (ii) preclude the right of the Participant to receive and the Corporation to issue
Common Shares or other equity securities in lieu of cash.
(b) Any grant may specify that the amount payable upon the exercise of an Appreciation Right shall not exceed a maximum
specified by the Board on the Date of Grant.
(c) Any grant may specify (i) a waiting period or periods before Appreciation Rights shall become exercisable and
(ii) permissible dates or periods on or during which Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable.
(d) Any grant may specify that an Appreciation Right may be exercised only in the event of a change in control of the
Corporation or other similar transaction or event.

(e) On or after the Date of Grant of any Appreciation Rights, the Board may provide for the payment to the Participant of
dividend equivalents thereon in cash or Common Shares on a current, deferred or contingent basis.
(f) Each grant shall be evidenced by an agreement, which shall be executed on behalf of the Corporation by any officer
thereof and delivered to and accepted by the Optionee and shall describe the subject Appreciation Rights, identify any related
Option Rights, state that the Appreciation Rights are subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Plan and contain such other
terms and provisions as the Board may determine consistent with this Plan.
(g) Regarding Tandem Appreciation Rights only: Each grant shall provide that a Tandem Appreciation Right may be
exercised only (i) at a time when the related Option Right (or any similar right granted under any other plan of the Corporation) is
also exercisable and the Spread is positive and (ii) by surrender of the related Option Right (or such other right) for cancellation.
(h) Regarding Free-Standing Appreciation Rights only:
(i) Each grant shall specify in respect of each Free-Standing Appreciation Right a Base Price per Common Share,
which shall be equal to or greater than the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant;
(ii) Successive grants may be made to the same Participant regardless of whether any Free-Standing Appreciation
Rights previously granted to the Participant remain unexercised;
(iii) Each grant shall specify the period or periods of continuous employment of the Participant by the Corporation or
any Subsidiary that are necessary before the Free-Standing Appreciation Rights or installments thereof shall become
exercisable, and any grant may provide for the earlier exercise of the Free-Standing Appreciation Rights in the event of a
change in control of the Corporation or other similar transaction or event; and
(iv) No Free-Standing Appreciation Right granted under this Plan may be exercised more than 10 years from the Date
of Grant.
6. Restricted Shares . The Board may also authorize grants or sales to Participants of Restricted Shares upon such terms and
conditions as the Board may determine in accordance with the following provisions:
(a) Each grant or sale shall constitute an immediate transfer of the ownership of Common Shares to the Participant in
consideration of the performance of services, entitling the Participant to dividend, voting and other ownership rights, subject to
the substantial risk of forfeiture and restrictions on transfer hereinafter referred to.
(b) Each grant or sale may be made without additional consideration from the Participant or in consideration of a payment
by the Participant that is less than the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant.
(c) Each grant or sale shall provide that the Restricted Shares covered thereby shall be subject to a “substantial risk of
forfeiture” within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code for a period to be determined by the Board on the Date of Grant, and any
grant or sale may provide for the earlier termination of such period in the event of a change in control of the Corporation or other
similar transaction or event.
(d) Each grant or sale shall provide that, during the period for which such substantial risk of forfeiture is to continue, the
transferability of the Restricted Shares shall be prohibited or restricted in the manner and to the extent prescribed by the Board on
the Date of Grant. Such restrictions may include, but are not limited to, rights of repurchase or first refusal in the

Corporation or provisions subjecting the Restricted Shares to a continuing substantial risk of forfeiture in the hands of any
transferee.
(e) Any grant or sale may require that any or all dividends or other distributions paid on the Restricted Shares during the
period of such restrictions be automatically sequestered and reinvested on an immediate or deferred basis in additional Common
Shares, which may be subject to the same restrictions as the underlying award or such other restrictions as the Board may
determine.
(f) Each grant or sale shall be evidenced by an agreement, which shall be executed on behalf of the Corporation by any
officer thereof and delivered to and accepted by the Participant and shall contain such terms and provisions as the Board may
determine consistent with this Plan. Unless otherwise directed by the Board, all certificates representing Restricted Shares,
together with a stock power that shall be endorsed in blank by the Participant with respect to the Restricted Shares, shall be held
in custody by the Corporation until all restrictions thereon lapse.
7. Deferred Shares . The Board may also authorize grants or sales to Participants of Deferred Shares upon such terms and
conditions as the Board may determine in accordance with the following provisions:
(a) Each grant or sale shall constitute the agreement by the Corporation to issue or transfer Common Shares to the
Participant in the future in consideration of the performance of services, subject to the fulfillment during the Deferral Period of
such conditions as the Board may specify.
(b) Each grant or sale may be made without additional consideration from the Participant or in consideration of a payment
by the Participant that is less than the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant.
(c) Each grant or sale shall provide that the Deferred Shares covered thereby shall be subject to a Deferral Period, which
shall be fixed by the Board on the Date of Grant, and any grant or sale may provide for the earlier termination of the Deferral
Period in the event of a change in control of the Corporation or other similar transaction or event.
(d) During the Deferral Period, the Participant shall not have any right to transfer any rights under the subject award, shall
not have any rights of ownership in the Deferred Shares and shall not have any right to vote the Deferred Shares, but the Board
may on or after the Date of Grant authorize the payment of dividend equivalents on the Deferred Shares in cash or additional
Common Shares on a current, deferred or contingent basis.
(e) Each grant or sale shall be evidenced by an agreement, which shall be executed on behalf of the Corporation by any
officer thereof and delivered to and accepted by the Participant and shall contain such terms and provisions as the Board may
determine consistent with this Plan.
8. Performance Shares and Performance Units . The Board may also authorize grants of Performance Shares and
Performance Units, which shall become payable to the Participant upon the achievement of specified Management Objectives, upon
such terms and conditions as the Board may determine in accordance with the following provisions:
(a) Each grant shall specify the number of Performance Shares or Performance Units to which it pertains, which may be
subject to adjustment to reflect changes in compensation or other factors.
(b) The Performance Period with respect to each Performance Share or Performance Unit shall be determined by the Board
on the Date of Grant and may be subject to earlier termination in the event of a change in control of the Corporation or other
similar transaction or event.

(c) Each grant shall specify the Management Objectives that are to be achieved by the Participant, which may be described
in terms of Corporation-wide objectives or objectives that are related to the performance of the individual Participant or the
Subsidiary, division, department or function within the Corporation or Subsidiary in which the Participant is employed.
(d) Each grant shall specify in respect of the specified Management Objectives a minimum acceptable level of achievement
below which no payment will be made and shall set forth a formula for determining the amount of any payment to be made if
performance is at or above the minimum acceptable level but falls short of full achievement of the specified Management
Objectives.
(e) Each grant shall specify the time and manner of payment of Performance Shares or Performance Units that shall have
been earned, and any grant may specify that any such amount may be paid by the Corporation in cash, Common Shares or any
combination thereof and may either grant to the Participant or reserve to the Board the right to elect among those alternatives.
(f) Any grant of Performance Shares may specify that the amount payable with respect thereto may not exceed a maximum
specified by the Board on the Date of Grant. Any grant of Performance Units may specify that the amount payable, or the number
of Common Shares issuable, with respect thereto may not exceed maximums specified by the Board on the Date of Grant.
(g) On or after the Date of Grant of Performance Shares, the Board may provide for the payment to the Participant of
dividend equivalents thereon in cash or additional Common Shares on a current, deferred or contingent basis.
(h) The Board may adjust Management Objectives and the related minimum acceptable level of achievement if, in the sole
judgment of the Board, events or transactions have occurred after the Date of Grant that are unrelated to the performance of the
Participant and result in distortion of the Management Objectives or the related minimum acceptable level of achievement.
(i) Each grant shall be evidenced by an agreement, which shall be executed on behalf of the Corporation by any officer
thereof and delivered to and accepted by the Participant and shall contain such terms and provisions as the Board may determine
consistent with this Plan.
9. Transferability . (a) Any grant of an Option Right or other “derivative security” (as defined in Rule 16a-1 (c) under
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act) under this Plan may permit the transfer thereof by the Participant upon such terms and conditions
as the Board shall specify.
(b) Any grant made under this Plan may provide that all or any part of the Common Shares that are to be issued or
transferred by the Corporation upon the exercise of Option Rights or Appreciation Rights or upon the termination of the Deferral
Period applicable to Deferred Shares or in payment of Performance Shares or Performance Units, or are no longer subject to the
substantial risk of forfeiture and restrictions on transfer referred to in Section 6 of this Plan, shall be subject to further restrictions
upon transfer.
10. Adjustments . The Board may make or provide for such adjustments in the number of Common Shares covered by
outstanding Option Rights, Appreciation Rights, Deferred Shares and Performance Shares granted hereunder, the Option Prices per
Common Share or Base Prices per Common Share applicable to any such Option Rights and Appreciation Rights, and the kind of
shares (including shares of another issuer) covered thereby, as the Board may in good faith determine to be equitably required in order
to prevent dilution or expansion of the rights of Participants that otherwise would result from (a) any stock dividend, stock split,
combination of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the Corporation or (b) any merger, consolidation,
spin-off, spin-out, split-off, split-up, reorganization, partial or complete liquidation or other distribution of assets, issuance

of warrants or other rights to purchase securities or any other corporate transaction or event having an effect similar to any of the
foregoing. In the event of any such transaction or event, the Board may provide in substitution for any or all outstanding awards under
this Plan such alternative consideration as it may in good faith determine to be equitable under the circumstances and may require in
connection therewith the surrender of all awards so replaced. Moreover, the Board may on or after the Date of Grant provide in the
agreement evidencing any award under this Plan that the holder of the award may elect to receive an equivalent award in respect of
securities of the surviving entity of any merger, consolidation or other transaction or event having a similar effect, or the Board may
provide that the holder will automatically be entitled to receive such an equivalent award. The Board may also make or provide for
such adjustments in the numbers of Common Shares specified in Sections 3(a)(i) and 3(a)(ii) of this Plan as the Board may in good
faith determine to be appropriate in order to reflect any transaction or event described in this Section 10.
11. Fractional Shares . The Corporation shall not be required to issue any fractional Common Shares pursuant to this Plan. The
Board may provide for the elimination of fractions or for the settlement thereof in cash.
12. Withholding Taxes . To the extent that the Corporation is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes in
connection with any payment made or benefit realized by a Participant or other person under this Plan, and the amounts available to
the Corporation for the withholding are insufficient, it shall be a condition to the receipt of any such payment or the realization of any
such benefit that the Participant or such other person make arrangements satisfactory to the Corporation for payment of the balance of
any taxes required to be withheld. At the discretion of the Board, any such arrangements may include relinquishment of a portion of
any such payment or benefit. The Corporation and any Participant or such other person may also make similar arrangements with
respect to the payment of any taxes with respect to which withholding is not required.
13. Participation by Directors, Officers and Other Key Employees of or Consultants to a Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary .
As a condition to the effectiveness of any grant or award to be made hereunder to a Participant who is a director or an officer or other
key employee of or a consultant to a Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary, regardless of whether the Participant is also employed by the
Corporation or another Subsidiary, the Board may require the Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary to agree to transfer to the Participant
(as, if and when provided for under this Plan and any applicable agreement entered into between the Participant and the Less-Than-80Percent Subsidiary pursuant to this Plan) the Common Shares that would otherwise be delivered by the Corporation upon receipt by
the Less-Than 80-Percent Subsidiary of any consideration then otherwise payable by the Participant to the Corporation. Any such
award may be evidenced by an agreement between the Participant and the Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary, in lieu of the
Corporation, on terms consistent with this Plan and approved by the Board and the Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary. All Common
Shares so delivered by or to a Less-Than-80-Percent Subsidiary will be treated as if they had been delivered by or to the Corporation
for purposes of Section 3 of this Plan, and all references to the Corporation in this Plan shall be deemed to refer to the Less-Than-80Percent Subsidiary except with respect to the definitions of the Board and the Committee and in other cases where the context
otherwise requires.
14. Certain Terminations of Employment, Hardship and Approved Leaves of Absence . Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Plan to the contrary, in the event of termination of employment by reason of death, disability, normal retirement, early retirement
with the consent of the Corporation, termination of employment to enter public service with the consent of the Corporation or leave of
absence approved by the Corporation, or in the event of hardship or other special circumstances, of a Participant who holds an Option
Right or Appreciation Right that is not immediately and fully exercisable, any Restricted Shares as to which the substantial risk of
forfeiture or the prohibition or restriction on transfer has not lapsed, any Deferred Shares as to which the Deferral Period is not
complete, any Performance Shares or Performance Units that have not been fully earned,

or any Common Shares that are subject to any transfer restriction pursuant to Section 9[(b)] of this Plan, the Board may take any
action that it deems to be equitable under the circumstances or in the best interests of the Corporation, including without limitation
waiving or modifying any limitation or requirement with respect to any award under this Plan.
15. Foreign Participants . In order to facilitate the making of any award or combination of awards under this Plan, the Board
may provide for such special terms for awards to Participants who are foreign nationals, or who are employed by the Corporation or
any Subsidiary outside of the United States of America, as the Board may consider necessary or appropriate to accommodate
differences in local law, tax policy or custom. Moreover, the Board may approve such supplements to, or amendments, restatements or
alternative versions of, this Plan as it may consider necessary or appropriate for such purposes without thereby affecting the terms of
this Plan as in effect for any other purpose; provided, however that no such supplements, amendments, restatements or alternative
versions shall include any provisions that are inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, as then in effect, unless this Plan could have
been amended to eliminate the inconsistency without further approval by the stockholders of the Corporation.
16. Administration of the Plan . (a) This Plan shall be administered by the Board, which may delegate any or all of its authority
hereunder to the Committee. To the extent of any such delegation, references in this Plan to the Board shall be deemed to refer to the
Committee, unless the context requires otherwise. A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum, and the acts of the members of
the Board who are present at any meeting thereof at which a quorum is present, or acts unanimously approved by the members of the
Board in writing, shall be the acts of the Board.
(b) The interpretation and construction by the Board of any provision of this Plan or any agreement, notification or
document evidencing the grant of Option Rights, Appreciation Rights, Restricted Shares, Deferred Shares, Performance Shares or
Performance Units, and any determination by the Board pursuant to any provision of this Plan or any such agreement, notification
or document, shall be final and conclusive. No member of the Board shall be liable for any such action taken or determination
made in good faith.
17. Amendments and Other Matters . (a) This Plan may be amended from time to time by the Board; provided, however except
as expressly authorized by this Plan, no such amendment shall increase the numbers of Common Shares specified in Sections
3(a)(i) and 3(a)(ii) hereof or the number of Performance Units specified in Section 3(b) hereof without the further approval of the
stockholders of the Corporation.
(b) With the concurrence of the affected Participant, the Board may cancel any agreement evidencing Option Rights or any
other award granted under this Plan. In the event of any such cancellation, the Board may authorize the granting of new Option
Rights or other awards hereunder, which may or may not cover the same number of Common Shares as had been covered by the
cancelled Option Rights or other award, at such Option Price, in such manner and subject to such other terms, conditions and
discretion as would have been permitted under this Plan had the cancelled Option Rights or other award not been granted.
(c) The Board may grant under this Plan any award or combination of awards authorized under this Plan, including but not
limited to Replacement Option Rights, in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of an award that was not granted under this
Plan, including but not limited to an award that was granted by the Corporation or a Subsidiary, or by another corporation that is
acquired by the Corporation or a Subsidiary by merger or otherwise, prior to the adoption of this Plan by the Board, and any such
award or combination of awards so granted under this Plan may or may not cover the same number of Common Shares as had
been covered by the cancelled award and shall be subject to such other terms, conditions and discretion as would have been
permitted under this Plan had the cancelled award not been granted.

(d) This Plan shall not confer upon any Participant any right with respect to continuance of employment with the
Corporation or any Subsidiary and shall not interfere in any way with any right that the Corporation or any Subsidiary would
otherwise have to terminate any Participant’s employment at any time.
(e) To the extent that any provision of this Plan would prevent any Option Right that was intended to qualify as a TaxQualified Option from so qualifying, any such provision shall be null and void with respect to any such Option Right; provided,
however that any such provision shall remain in effect with respect to other Option Rights, and there shall be no further effect on
any provision of this Plan.
(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Board nor any committee of the Board shall (i) amend an Option Right to
reduce its Option Price, (ii) cancel an Option Right and regrant an Option Right with a lower Option Price than the original
Option Price of the cancelled Option Right, or (iii) take any other action (whether in the form of an amendment, cancellation or
replacement grant) that has the effect of repricing an Option Right.

Exhibit 10.20
FIRST AMENDMENT TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is dated as of the 1st
day of July, 2004 and is between EBIX, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and LaSalle Bank National Association
(“Bank”).
W I T N E S S E T H:

of April

WHEREAS, the Company and Bank are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as
, 2004 (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented and in effect from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Bank consent to the Acquisition (as hereinafter defined) and that the credit
facilities under the Credit Agreement be modified to permit an extension of the maturity of certain Letters of Credit to be issued in
connection therewith and to permit the repurchase of certain Stock to be issued in connection therewith; and
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, Bank is agreeable to such request.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.
Definitions . Capitalized terms used in this Amendment and not otherwise defined herein are used with the
meanings given such terms in the Credit Agreement. In addition, for purposes of this Amendment the terms defined in Section 2(A)
of this Amendment shall have the meanings indicated therein.
2.
Amendments to the Credit Agreement . Effective on the Amendment Effective Date, the Credit Agreement shall be
amended as follows:
(A)
Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement shall be amended by the addition thereto of the following additional
defined terms, each in its appropriate alphabetical place:
“ Amendment ” means that certain First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated
as of July 1, 2004 between the Company and the Bank.
“ Amendment Effective Date ” means the date upon which the Amendment is executed by the Company and Bank
and each of the other conditions specified in Section 3 thereof have been satisfied.
“ Acquisition ” means the acquisition by Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. of the assets of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd.
in accordance with the terms of the Heart Consulting Acquisition Agreement.

“ Heart Consulting Acquisition Agreement ” shall mean that certain Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004, between
Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. and Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd., pursuant to which Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. is purchasing the
assets of and assuming certain liabilities of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd.
“ Heart Consulting Letters of Credit ” mean the three Letters of Credit to be issued to Heart Consulting Services Pty
Ltd. under the Heart Consulting Acquisition Agreement with expiry dates of July 10, 2005, July 10, 2006 and July 10, 2007
respectively.
“ Repurchase Agreement ” means the Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004, between the Company and Heart
Consulting Services Pty Ltd. providing for the redemption of certain Stock held by Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd. issued
in connection with the Acquisition.
(B)

The second sentence of Section 2.01(E) of the Credit Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as

follows:
“Each Letter of Credit (other than the Heart Consulting Letters of Credit) shall have an expiry date no later
than 365 days after the Revolving Credit Termination Date and will be secured by cash on terms reasonably
acceptable to Bank if outstanding at any time after the Revolving Credit Loan Termination Date if not extended by
Bank.”
(C)

Section 6.08 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

“Declare or pay any dividends, or redeem or repurchase any of, or make any other payment or distribution
on account of, any Stock, except as provided in the Repurchase Agreement.”
3.
Conditions to Amendment Effective Date . This Amendment shall become effective and the Amendment Effective
Date shall occur upon completion of each of the following conditions to the reasonable satisfaction of Bank:
(A)
Execution and Delivery of This Amendment . This Amendment shall have been duly executed by the
Company and Bank;
(B)
Secretary’s Certificates; Resolutions; Incumbency . The Company shall have delivered to Bank a
certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company certifying:
(i)
the names, offices and true signatures of the officers of the Company authorized to execute,
deliver and perform, as applicable, this Amendment; and
(ii)
true and correct copies of resolutions of the board of directors of the Company approving and
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Amendment, and the Repurchase
Agreement;

(C)
Copies of Documents . Copies, certified by the Secretary of the Company, of the agreements, instruments
and documents executed and delivered in connection with the closing of the Acquisition.
(D)

No Defaults . No Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Credit Agreement;

and
4.
warrants that:

Representations and Warranties . To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, the Company represents and

(A)
the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Amendment and the other instruments,
documents and agreements of the Company contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action
on the part of the Company;
(B)
this Amendment has been and each other instrument, document or agreement of the Company to be
delivered in connection herewith will be when delivered, duly executed and delivered by the Company and will constitute a
valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms except as such enforceability may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or by
general principals of equity; and
(C)

No Event of Default exists as of the date of this Amendment; and

5.
Consent and Waiver . The Company has informed Bank that the Company has formed Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. as a
wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company, for the purpose of acquiring the assets of Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd. The
Company requests that Bank consent to consummation of the Acquisition, issuance of the Stock to Heart Consulting Services Pty Ltd.
in connection therewith, issuance of the Heart Consulting Letters of Credit and waive any Event of Default which would otherwise
arise under the Credit Agreement by reason of the foregoing.
Effective on the Amendment Effective Date, Bank agrees to such requests of the Company and consents to such actions by
the Company and Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. and waives any Event of Default which may arise by reason of such actions by the Company
and Ebix Australia Pty Ltd. under the Heat Consulting Acquisition Agreement and Repurchase Agreement.
6.

Miscellaneous .

(A)
Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed
and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. It shall not be necessary in making
proof of this Amendment to produce or account for more than one such counterpart for each of the parties hereto. Delivery by
facsimile by any of the parties hereto of an executed counterpart of this Amendment shall be effective as an original executed
counterpart hereof and shall be deemed a representation that an original executed counterpart hereof will be delivered.

(B)
Headings . The headings of the sections and subsections hereof are provided for convenience only and shall not in
any way affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Amendment.
(C)
Governing Law . This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and interpreted
in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois.
(D)
Severability . If any provision of any of this Amendment is determined to be illegal, invalid or enforceable, such
provision shall be fully severable and the remaining provisions shall remain full force and effect and shall be construed without giving
effect to the illegal, invalid or enforceable provisions.
(E)
Successors and Assigns . This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and
their respective successors and assigns.
(F)
References; Loan Document . From and after the date of execution of this Amendment, any reference to the Credit
Agreement contained in any notice, request, certificate or other instrument, document or agreement executed concurrently with or
after the execution and delivery of this Amendment shall be deemed to include this Amendment unless the context shall otherwise
require.
[Balance of page left intentionally blank; signature page follows.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first set forth above.

EBIX, INC.

By: /s/ RJ Baum
Name: RJ Baum
Title: CFO

LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ Wm Robertson
Name: Wm Robertson
Title: SVP

Exhibit 10.22
REAL ESTATE LEASE

This Lease Agreement (“Lease”) is made effective as of the January 1, 2002 (Date), by and between LifeLink Building, LLC
(“Landlord”), and LifeLink Corporation (“Tenant”). The parties agree as follows:
1.

Premises. Landlord, in consideration of the lease payments provided in this Agreement, leases to Tenant 5,500 sq. feet in the
The LifeLink Building (the “Premises”) located at 1918 Prospector Drive, Park City, UT 84060.

2.

Tcrm. The lease term shall commence on the Date and run for sixty (60) months. This Lease shall be renewable at the then
current market lease rate, subject to the terms of this lease, at the option of the Tenant, for an additional period of twelve
months, on January 1, 2007. The renewal option must be exercised by written notice to Landlord sixty (60) days prior to the
end of the lease period.

3.

Lease Payments. Tenant shall pay to Landlord monthly lease payments of $11,000.00, payable in advance, on the first day of
each month. Lease payments shall be increased by 4% of the previous year’s payments at the end of each twelve-month
period. Such payments shall be made to Landlord at 1918 Prospector Ave., Park City, UT 84060. This address may be
changed from time to time by Landlord.

4.

Utilities and Services. Landlord shall pay all utilities and services in connection with the Premises.

5.

Security Deposit. At the time of signing of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in trust, the sum of $0.00 to be held and
disbursed for Tenant damages to the Premises (if any) as provided by law.

6.

Late Payments. Tenant shall also pay a late charge equal to 1.00% of the required monthly payment for each payment that is
not paid within 15 days after the due date for such late payment.

7.

Possession. Tenant shall be entitled to possession on the first day of the term of this Lease, and shall yield possession to
Landlord on the last day of the term of this Lease, unless otherwise agreed by both parties in writing.
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8.

9.

Use of Premises. Tenant may use the Premises only for administrative offices, miscellaneous storage and for the operation of
a service business. The Premises may not be used for any other purpose without the prior written consent of Landlord.
Maintenance. Landlord shall have the obligation to maintain the Premises in good repair at all times.

10.

Access by Landlord to Premises. Subject to Tenant’s consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld), Landlord shall
have the right to enter the Premises to make inspections, provide necessary services, or show the unit to prospective buyers,
mortgagees, tenants or workmen. As provided by law, in the case of an emergency, Landlord may enter the Premises without
Tenant’s consent.

11.

Property Insurance. Landlord and Tenant shall each be responsible to maintain appropriate insurance for their respective
interests in the Premises and property located on the Premises.

12.

Liability Insurance. Tenant shall maintain public liability insurance with personal injury limits of at least $1,000,000.00 for
injury to one person, and $1,000,000.00 for any one accident, and a limit of at least $300,000.00 for damage to property.
Tenant shall deliver appropriate evidence to Landlord as proof that adequate insurance is in force. Landlord shall have the
right to require that the Landlord receive notice of any termination of such insurance policies.

13.

Indemnity Regarding Use of Premises. Tenant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend Landlord from and against
any and all losses, claims, liabilities, and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, if any, which Landlord may suffer or
incur in connection with Tenant’s negligence in its use of the Premises. Landlord agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and
defend Tenant from and against any and all losses, claims, liabilities, and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, if any,
which Tenant may suffer or incur in connection with Landlord’s negligence in its management and maintenance of the
Premises.

14.

Dangerous Materials. Tenant shall not keep or have on the Premises any article or thing of a dangerous, inflammable, or
explosive character that might substantially increase the danger of fire on the Premises, or that might be considered hazardous
by a responsible insurance company, unless the prior written consent of Landlord is obtained and proof of adequate insurance
protection is provided by Tenant to Landlord.

15.

Taxes. Landlord shall pay all real estate taxes, assessments and association fees for the Premises.
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16.

Mechanics Liens. Neither the Tenant nor anyone claiming through the Tenant shall have the right to file mechanics liens or
any other kind of lien on the Premises and the filing of this Lease constitutes notice that such liens are invalid. Further,
Tenant agrees to give actual advance notice to any contractors, subcontractors or supplies of goods, labor, or services that
such liens will not be valid.

17.

Defaults. Tenant shall be in default of this Lease, if Tenant fails to fulfill any lease obligation or term by which Tenant is
bound. Subject to any governing provisions of law to the contrary, if Tenant fails to cure any financial obligation within 30
days (or any other obligation within 30 days after written notice of such default is provided by Landlord to Tenant, Landlord
may take possession of the Premises without further notice, and without prejudicing Landlord’s rights to damages. In the
alternative, Landlord may elect to cure any default and the cost of such action shall be added to Tenant’s financial obligations
under this Lease. In the event Tenant fails to cure the default after receipt of written notice from the Landlord, Tenant shall
pay all reasonable costs, damages, and expenses suffered by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s defaults.

18.

Cumulative Rights. The rights of the parties under this Lease are cumulative, and shall not be construed as exclusive unless
otherwise required by law.

19.

Assignability/Subletting. Tenant may not assign or sublease any interest in the Premises without the prior written consent of
Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

20.

Entire Agreement/Amendment. This Lease Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and there are no other
promises or conditions in any other agreement whether oral or written. This Lease may be modified or amended in writing, if
the writing is signed by the party obligated under the amendment.

21.

Severability. If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining
provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable. If a court finds that any provision of this Lease is invalid or
unenforceable, but that by limiting such provision it would become valid and enforceable, then such provision shall be
deemed to be written, construed, and enforced as so limited.

22.

Subordination of Lease. This Lease is subordinate to any mortgage that now exists, or may be given later by Landlord, with
respect to the Premises, provided that any such mortgage shall not extend to Tenant its agreement of non-disturbance.

23.

Amenities. Tenant shall have free use of the existing phone system in the building.

24.

Quiet Enjoyment. Tenant shall have quiet enjoyment of the Premises, subject to the terms of this lease.
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25.

Notice. Notices under this Lease shall not be deemed valid unless given or served in writing and forwarded by mail, postage
prepaid, addressed as follows:
Landlord: LifeLink Building, LLC
1918 Prospector Ave.
Park City, UT 84060
Tenant: LifeLink Corporation
1918 Prospector Ave.
Park City, UT 84060
Such address may be changed from time to time by either party by providing notice as set forth above.

The parties hereby make this Lease Agreement effective by signing as
shown below.

Landlord: LifeLink Building, LLC

By:
/s/ Craig Wm. Earnshaw
Craig Wm. Earnshaw, Manager

1/5/02

Tenant: LifeLink Corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Craig Wm. Earnshaw
Craig Wm. Earnshaw, Manager
President
4

Exhibit 10.23
Compensation Arrangement for Ebix’s Executive Officers and Directors
On December 4, 2004, the Board of Directors of Ebix, Inc. (the “Company”), upon recommendation of the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors and considering the operating results of the Company for the first nine months of 2004,
approved a 2004 incentive compensation program for the Company’s two executive officers: Robin Raina, the Company’s
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, and Richard J. Baum, the Company’s Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Secretary. Pursuant to this program, each of Messrs. Raina and Baum is to receive (1) a cash bonus compensation
comprised of two parts: regular bonus and supplemental bonus. The regular bonus is comprised of 50% of the officer’s annual base
salary. For 2004, Mr. Raina’s annual salary was $370,000, and his regular bonus is calculated as $185,000 and Mr. Baum’s annual
salary was $212,000 as such his regular bonus is calculated as $106,000). and (2) shares of restricted common stock of the Company
having a grant date value equal to 10% of the aggregate of the salary and bonus compensation earned by him for 2004 (such
restricted stock to vest in three equal annual installments). The payment of the cash bonuses and issuance of the restricted stock is
subject to the determination by the Compensation Committee and the Board, after the Company’s release of its 2004 operating
results, that such operating results are substantially consistent with the operating results of the Company for the first nine months of
2004, as they compare to those for the same period of the prior year (excluding executive incentive compensation). The restricted
stock awards will be made pursuant to the Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.
Also on December 4, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company, upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee
approved a new compensation program for the Company’s non-employee directors, to commence in 2005. Pursuant to this program,
each non-employee director is to receive an annual cash retainer of $14,000. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is to receive an
additional annual fee of $5,000 and each other member of the Audit Committee and each member of the Compensation Committee is
to receive an addition annual fee of $2,500. Also, each non-employee director is receive an initial grant on his election to the Board
of an option to purchase 1,500 shares, vesting over three years, and an annual grant thereafter of an option to purchase 1,500 shares,
vesting immediately. These option grants will be made pursuant to the Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan.

Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries
Delphi Information Systems International, Inc.
Canadian Insurance Computer Systems, Inc.
Delphi Information Systems, (NZ) Ltd.
Complete Broking Systems Australia PTY, Ltd.
Delphi Information Systems, (Singapore) PTE, Ltd.
Ebix Insurance Agency, Inc.
ebix Software India, Private Limited
Ebix Australia Pty. Ltd. (VIC)

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ebix, Inc..
Schaumburg, IL
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-112616, 333-64368, 33312781 and 33-62427) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-64664, 333-59242, 333-46066, 333-23261 and 33-62901) of Ebix, Inc. of our report
dated March 18, 2005, relating to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 of Ebix, Inc., which appears in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We also consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated March 18, 2005 relating to the
2004 financial statement schedule which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP
Chicago, IL
March 28, 2005
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Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Ebix, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-64664, 333-59242, 33346066, 333-23261 and 33-62901) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-112616, 333-64368, 333-12781 and 33-62427) of Ebix, Inc. (formerly
ebix.com, Inc.) of our report dated March 19, 2004, with respect to the consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. as of December 31,
2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income and cash flows, and the
related consolidated financial statement schedule for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2003, which report
appears in the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 28, 2005

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Robin Raina, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 30, 2005

/s/ Robin Raina
Robin Raina
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Richard J. Baum, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 30, 2005

/s/ Richard J. Baum
Richard J. Baum
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2004 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robin Raina, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

By:
Name:

/s/ Robin Raina
Robin Raina

Chief Executive Officer
March 30, 2005

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2004, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard J. Baum, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

By:
Name:

/s/ Richard J. Baum
Richard J. Baum

Chief Financial Officer
March 30, 2005

